



CIHM/ICMH Microfiche Series.

CIHM/ICMH Collection de microfiches.



Canadian Institute for Historical Microreproductions / Institut canadien de microreproductions historiques



Technical and Bibliographic Notes/Notes techniques et bibliographiques

The institute has attempted to obtain the best original copy available for filming. Features of this copy which may be bibliographically unique; which may alter any of the images in the reproduction, or which may significantly change the usual method of filming, are checked below. L'Institut a microfilmé le meilleur exemplaire qu'il lui a été possible de se procurer. Les détails de cet exemplaire qui sont peut-être uniques du point de vue bibliographique, qui peuvent modifier une image reproduite, ou qui peuvent exiger une modification dans le méthode normale de filmege sont indiqués ci-dessous.

Coloured covers/ Couverture de couleur	Coloured pages/ Pages de couleur
Covers damaged/ Couverture endommagée	Pages damaged/ Pages endommagées
Covers restored and/or laminated/ Couverture restaurée et/ou pelliculée	Pages restored and/or laminated/ Pages restaurées et/ou pelliculées
Cover title missing/ Le titre de couverture manque	Peges discoloured, stained or foxed/ Peges décolorées, tachetées ou piquées
Coloured maps/ Cartes géographiques en couleur	Pages detached/ Peges détachées
Coloured ink (i.e. other than blue or black)/ Encre de couleur (i.e. autre que bleve ou noire)	Showthrough/ Transparence
Coloured plates and/or illustrations/ Planches et/ou illustrations an couleur	Quelity of print varies/ Quelité inégale de l'impression
Bound with other material/ Relié svec d'autres documents	Comprend du matériel supplémentaire
Tight binding may cause shadows or distortion along interior margin/ La re liure serrée peut causer de l'ombre ou de la distorsion le long de la marge intérieure Blank leaves added during restoration may appear within the text. Whenever possible, these have been omitted from filming/ Il se peut que cartaines pages blanches ajoutées lors d'une restauration apparaissent dans le texte, mais, lorsque cela était possible, ces pages n'ont pas été filmées.	 Only edition available/ Seule édition disponible Pages wholly or partially obscured by errata alips, tissues, etc., have been refilmed to ensure the beat possible image/ Les pages totalement ou partiellement obscurcies par un feuillet d'errata, une pelure, etc., ont été filmées à nouveau de façon à obtenir la meilleure image possible.
Additional comments:/ Commentaires supplémentaires;	

This item is filmed at the reduction ratio checked below/ Ce document est filmé au taux de réduction indiqué ci-dessous.



al l

The co to the

> The im possib of the filming

Origina beginn the las sion, c other first pa sion, a or illus

The la shall o TINUE which

Maps, differe entire begin right a requir metho détails ues du modifier ger une filmage

ées

ire

ed to

nt ne pelure, Içon à

37¥

The copy filmed here has been reproduced thanks to the generosity of:

Douglas Library Queen's University

The images appearing here are the best quality possible considering the condition and legibility of the original copy and in keeping with the filming contract specifications.

Original copies in printed paper covers are filmed beginning with the front cover and ending on the last page with a printed or illustrated impression, or the back cover when appropriate. All other original copies are filmed beginning on the first page with a printed or illustrated impression, and ending on the last page with a printed or illustrated impression.

The last recorded frame on each microfiche shall contain the symbol \longrightarrow (meaning "CON-TINUED"), or the symbol ∇ (meaning "END"), whichever applies.

Maps, plates, charts, etc., may be filmed at different reduction ratios. Those too large to be entirely included in one exposure are filmed beginning in the upper left hand corner, left to right and top to bottom, as many frames as required. The following diagrams illustrate the method:

1	2	3

L'exempleire filmé fut reproduit grâce à la générosité de:

Dougles Library Queen's University

Les images suivantes ont été reproduites avec le plus grand soin, compte tenu de la condition et de la netteté de l'exemplaire filmé, et en conformité avec les conditions du contrat de filmage.

Les exemplaires originaux dont la couverture en papier est imprimée sont filmés en commençant par le premier plat et en terminant soit par la dernière page qui comporte une empreinte d'impression ou d'illustration, soit par le second plat, seion le cas. Tous les autres exemplaires originaux sont filmée en commençant par la première page qui comporte une empreinte d'impression ou d'illustration et en terminant par la dernière page qui comporte une telle empreinte.

Un des symboles suivents apparaîtra sur la dernière image de chaque microfiche, seion le cas: le symbole —> signifie "A SUIVRE", le symbole V signifie "FIN".

Les cartes, planches, tableaux, etc., peuvent être filmés à des taux de réduction différents. Lorsque le document est trop grand pour être reproduit en un seul cliché, il est filmé à partir de l'angle supérieur gauche, de gauche à droite, et de haut en bas, en prenant le nombre d'imeges nécessaire. Les diagrammes suivants illustrent la méthode.



2	3
5	6
	2





THE ARITHMETIC OF CHEMISTRY

BEING

A SIMPLE TREATMENT OF THE SUBJECT OF CHEMICAL CALCULATIONS

BY

JOHN WADDELL

B.Sc. (LOND.), PH.D. (HEIDELBERG), D.Sc. (EDIN.) FORMERLY ASSISTANT TO THE PROFESSOR OF CHEMISTRY IN EDINBURGH UNIVERSITY

New York THE MACMILLAN COMPANY LONDON: MACMILLAN & CO., LTD. 1899

All rights reserved

QD42.W12

COPYRIGHT, 1899, By THE MACMILLAN COMPANY.

Norwood Press J. S. Cushing & Co. — Berwick & Smith Norwood Mass. U.S.A.

99-1502

а

e c te

a m v of

of point of

be

ic

PREFACE

THE form that this book has taken is due to a very considerable experience of the difficulties encountered by students when attempting to make chemical calculations. The effort has been made to smooth away these difficulties, and to give an accurate, as well as a simple and systematic, treatment of the subject. A number of points are, I venture to think, more clearly presented than in other books; for instance, Charles's Law and the so-called gramme-molecular volume of gases.

The object of the book is to give clear ideas on the subject, but a book that serves this purpose must necessarily give the best help to the student working for examinations that include chemical calculations. Hence many examples are given of questions set in examination papers of a number of important universities in Britain and America. These questions have the advantage of

48853

1502

PREFACE

presenting problems in different ways, so that the student is trained in interpreting different forms of expression. It is hoped that the book may be of service to teachers who find difficulty in making the subject clear, probably because they expect the pupil to understand *intuitively* things which they will find he does not understand unless stated in the simplest form.

The attempt has been made to make the text a continuous line of argument, and therefore some matters that are frequently inserted as an integral part of a book on calculations have been thrown into an appendix.

A collection of equations in common use appeared advisable, and the plan of designating *gases* in some way is, I think, a good one.

I wish to thank Professor H. L. Wells of the Sheffield Scientific School of Yale University for the kindly interest that he has taken in this little volume and for his valuable suggestions, particularly in regard to the chapter on volumetric analysis.

J. W.

New York, February, 1899. that the at forms may be making pect the ch they tated in

the text re some integral thrown

ppeared in some

of the sity for is little particunalysis. J. W.

CONTENTS

CHAPTER I	
Calculation Weights of Elements	PAGE I
CHAPTER II	
Simple Calculations of Weights	9
. CHAPTER III	
More Complex Calculations of Weights	18
CHAPTER IV	
The Volume of Gases	28
CHAPTER V	
Calculations involving Weight and Volume	44
CHAPTER VI	
Calculations in Volumetric Analysis	69
CHAPTER VII	
Calculation of Formulæ	89

CONTENTS

APPENDICES

					PAGE	
Α.	The French System of Measures .	•	•	•	121	
в.	Arithmetical Calculations			•	122	
c.	Comparison of Thermometric Scales .	•	•	•	123	
D.	Table of Calculation or Atomic Weights		•	•	124	
E.	Equations in Frequent Use	•	•	•	125	
F.	Pressure of Aqueous Vapour .	•	•		131	
G.	Table of Logarithms				132	

0

b 3 c

С

F c r

t c

g

viii

THE

ARITHMETIC OF CHEMISTRY

CHAPTER I

CALCULATION WEIGHTS OF ELEMENTS

WHEN potassium chlorate is heated strongly enough, oxygen is given off and potassium chloride is left behind. The weight of the oxygen given off is 39.18% of the original chlorate, and the potassium chloride is 60.82%. For every 100 ounces or pounds or grammes¹ of chlorate taken, 39.18 ounces or pounds or grammes of oxygen are evolved, and 60.82 ounces or pounds or grammes of potassium chloride remain behind.

These numbers give the ratio that exists between the quantities of the different substances in every case, and so if we wish to know how much oxygen can be obtained from 18 ounces or pounds or grammes of potassium chlorate, we require merely

¹ For the system of French measures see Appendix A.

В

PAGE

122

123

124

125

131

132

2

to multiply 18 by $\frac{39.18}{100}$ and obtain as answer 7.053 ounces or pounds or grammes. The potassium chloride left behind is, naturally,

18 - 7.053 = 10.947 ounces or pounds or grammes.

In the same way, when pure marble, which is calcium carbonate, is heated, carbon dioxide is given off, and lime is left behind; 44% of the marble is carbon dioxide and 56% is lime. If we wish to know how much lime will be left if 65 ounces or pounds or grammes are heated, we require merely to multiply 65 by $\frac{56}{100}$ and obtain as answer 36.4 ounces or pounds or grammes.

Conversely, if the problem be to determine how much potassium chiorate is required to produce 48 ounces or pounds or grammes of oxygen, it is evident that we must multiply 48 by $\frac{100}{39.18}$, because we require 100 ounces or pounds or grammes of chlorate for every 39.18 ounces or pounds or grammes of oxygen.

 $48 \times \frac{100}{39.18} = 122.5$ ounces or pounds or grammes.

Likewise, if the problem be to determine how

CALCULATION WEIGHTS OF ELEMENTS

3

er 7.053 1m chlo-

mmes.

which is is given arble is wish to nces or merely er 36.4

ne how luce 48 is evibecause mes of

ammes

nmes.

e how

much marble is required to produce 35 ounces or pounds or grammes of carbon dioxide, it is evident that $35 \times \frac{100}{44} = 79.54$ ounces or pounds or grammes is the answer.

Water consists of 11.11% hydrogen and 88.89% oxygen, and 36 ounces or pounds or grammes of water contain

 $36 \times \frac{11.11}{100} = 4$ ounces or pounds or grammes of hydrogen,

and

 $36 \times \frac{88.89}{100} = 32$ ounces or pounds or grammes of oxygen.

Carbon dioxide is composed of 27.27% carbon and 73.72% oxygen, therefore to produce 60 ounces or pounds or grammes of carbon dioxide,

 $60 \times \frac{72.73}{100} = 43.64$ ounces or pounds or grammes of oxygen are required.

Now analysis and synthesis of substances give us merely such data as have been presented above, but chemical problems are rarely worked out in this form. The reason is this:

In order to work a problem in any case, it would be necessary to know the percentage composition of

the substance in question, and if one were called upon to remember the percentage composition of even the ordinary substances, the memory would be severely taxed. It is found that by assigning a definite value to each element, calculations involve less tax upon the memory, and moreover provide for a reasonable theory as to the structure of matter. For the purpose of calculations, however, the theoretical development may be left out of sight.

In the percentage composition of water given above, it will be seen that the weight of oxygen is 8 times as much as that of the hydrogen, or $\frac{8}{9}$ of the total weight of water; and the problem to determine how many ounces or pounds or grammes of oxygen are in 36 ounces or pounds or grammes of water, is solved by multiplying 36 by $\frac{8}{9}$.

$36 \times \frac{8}{9} = 32$ ounces or pounds or grammes of oxygen.

Carbon dioxide, as we saw, contains 72.73% of oxygen; carbon monoxide contains 57.14%. Since the monoxide contains less oxygen than the dioxide, let us take the number 8 (which we used in the case of water) to represent the weight of oxygen in

CALCULATION WEIGHTS OF ELEMENTS

5

e called ation of ould be g a defilve less e for a r. For oretical

given is ygen is or $\frac{8}{9}$ of determes of ammes

hes of

3% of Since oxide, n the gen in carbon monoxide, and let us now calculate how much carbon is united to 8 ounces or pounds or grammes of oxygen in carbon monoxide.

Carbon monoxide contains 57.14% of oxygen and 42.86% of carbon, therefore the carbon weighs $\frac{42.86}{57.14}$ as much as the oxygen; and as the weight of the oxygen was 8, the weight of the carbon must be

$$8 \times \frac{42.86}{57.14} = 6;$$

therefore 6 ounces or pounds or grammes of carbon are united with 8 ounces or pounds or grammes of oxygen in carbon monoxide. Carbon monoxide burns in oxygen, to form carbon dioxide, and so if we start with 6 ounces or pounds or grammes of carbon, it can be first converted into carbon monoxide, and then still farther into dioxide. But the carbon in carbon dioxide is 27.27%, the oxygen being 72.73%. The problem now is to determine how much oxygen is united with 6 ounces or pounds or grammes of carbon in carbon dioxide. For this we have

 $^{6 \}times \frac{72.73}{27.27} = 16$ ounces or pounds or grammes of oxygen.

б

For 6 parts by weight of carbon, there is in carbon monoxide 8 parts by weight of oxygen, and in carbon dioxide 16 parts by weight of oxygen, or twice as much in the second case as in the first. In fact, this is the meaning of the names given to the two gases, and, till this relationship was discovered, the names could not have been given. (The gases were called originally by other names which did not show their relationship.)

Carbon is combined with hydrogen in marsh gas; 75% being carbon and 25% hydrogen. For every 6 ounces or pounds or grammes of carbon, there are, therefore, 2 ounces or pounds or grammes of hydrogen. In acetylene (the gas which has lately come into prominence as an illuminant) 92.3% of carbon is united with 7.7% of hydrogen, that is, 6 ounces or pounds or grammes of carbon is united with $\frac{1}{2}$ ounce or pound or gramme of hydrogen, or *twelve* parts by weight of carbon, with *one* part by weight of hydrogen. In all of these calculations, we have found that the numbers to be used for hydrogen, oxygen, and carbon, respectively, are 1, 8, and 6, or multiples of these numbers. If the ordinary symbols be used to represent the elements,

CALCULATION WEIGHTS OF ELEMENTS 7

in car-, and in rgen, or he first. s given was disn. (The s which

sh gas; r every , there mes of s lately .3% of hat is, united lrogen, *e* part alculae used y, are If the nents, then 9 ounces or pounds or grammes of water might be represented by the formula HO; 14 ounces or pounds or grammes of carbon monoxide by the formula CO; and 22 ounces or pounds or grammes of carbon dioxide by the formula CO₂. But it is found that while by *electrolysis* of water all of the hydrogen that is in the water is set free as a gas, and $\frac{1}{4}$ of the weight of water decomposed is hydrogen; on the other hand, when sodium acts on water, only one-half as much hydrogen is set free, that is, $\frac{1}{18}$ of the weight of the water acted upon. For this and a number of other reasons, it is considered better to take as our standard weight of water, 18 ounces or pounds or grammes, of which 2 are hydrogen and 16 are oxygen, and this quantity is represented by the formula H₂O, and 16 ounces or pounds or grammes represent the standard weight of oxygen. In the same way, the standard weight of carbon is 12, and the formula CO represents 28 ounces or pounds or grammes of carbon monoxide, and CO₂ represents 44 ounces or pounds or grammes of carbon dioxide.

Just as there is a standard number for hydrogen, oxygen, and carbon, so there is for potassium,

8

chlorine, iron, zinc, and all the elements. These numbers are usually called atomic weights and are considered as connected with the atomic theory, but if the whole atomic theory were proved unfounded, these standard numbers could still be used for calculations, and we may call them calculation weights. One-half of the difficulty experienced by the beginner in making calculations is that he uses his symbols and formulæ in a loose, slipshod, and unscientific manner.

k

0

is

ea

or

sta

th

an

a

cu

giv

the

chl

is u give sam kno

It is inaccurate to say H_2O is a colourless, tasteless liquid; CO_2 is a poisonous gas; NH_3 has a pungent odour. H_2O represents 18 parts by weight, be it ounces or pounds or tons or grammes or kilogrammes of water. CO_2 represents 44 parts by weight of carbon dioxide, and NH_8 represents 17 parts by weight of ammonia, and the symbols should never be used instead of the name of the substance (by any one, at all events, that has the slightest difficulty in chemical calculations). Y

nts. These hts and are theory, but unfounded, used for caltion weights. by the beginuses his symd unscientific

ourless, taste-H₃ has a punts by weight, nmes or kilo-44 parts by represents 17 vmbols should the substance the slightest

CHAPTER II

SIMPLE CALCULATIONS OF WEIGHTS

In making chemical calculations, it is necessary to know the formulæ employed for the standard weights of the substances which enter into the reaction. It is also necessary to know the calculation weights of each of the elements composing the substances, in order to determine the standard weights of the substances themselves. It is, thirdly, necessary to know the nature of the chemical reaction which takes place and to be able to express it quantitively as is done by a chemical equation. For instance, if we are to calculate how much oxygen can be obtained from a given quantity of potassium chlorate, we must know the formula of the standard weight of potassium chlorate; namely, KClO₃. For our purpose now, it is unimportant to know why the formula KClO₃ is given and not $K_2Cl_2O_6$, which would have exactly the same percentage composition. We must, secondly, know the calculation weights of K, Cl, and O. We

thirdly require the equation which represents the action that takes place when potassium chlorate is heated; namely,

 $2 \text{ KClO}_{3} = 2 \text{ KCl} + 3 \text{ O}_{2}^{1}$

The calculation weight of K is 39, of Cl is 35.5, and of O is 16.

The equation then represents

 $2 \text{ KClO}_{3} = 2 \text{ KCl} + 3 \text{ O}_{2}$ 2(39 + 35.5 + 48) 2(39 + 35.5) 3 × 32

or, expressed in words,

 $2 \times 122.5 = 245$ ounces or pounds or grammes of potassium chlorate yield

 $2 \times 74.5 = 149$ ounces or pounds or grammes of potassium chloride,

t

e

h

S

SI

р

cl

u

ez

pı

and

or

 $3 \times 32 = 96$ ounces or pounds or grammes of oxygen.

¹ We are not yet in a position to discuss why this equation is better than

 $KClO_3 = KCl + 3 O$ $KClO_3 = KCl + O_3$

Either of these would be sufficient for the calculation we have at present in hand, but in order to avoid having to revise the form of the equation later on, it is given as above.

10

SIMPLE CALCULATIONS OF WEIGHTS 11

If now we are asked to calculate how much oxygen can be obtained from 18 ounces or pounds or grammes of potassium chlorate, we have

 $18 \times \frac{96}{245} = 7.053$ ounces or pounds or grammes of oxygen,

the same result as was obtained before (page 2).

When hydrogen is obtained by the action of zinc on sulphuric acid, we have the equation

$$Zn + H_2SO_4 = ZnSO_4 + H_2$$

It should never be forgotten by the student that equations are not arrived at in a purely algebraic fashion. They merely represent, in symbols, quantitative relationships that have been discovered by experiment. For example, the above relationship holds only if the sulphuric acid be dilute. If it be strong, other substances besides hydrogen are formed, such as hydrogen sulphide, sulphur dioxide, and sulphur. An equation rarely represents the entire chemical reaction, but it represents the chief one under certain conditions, and in carrying out the experiment the endeavour is made to secure the proper conditions. The water that is used to dilute

sents the hlorate is

l is 35.5,

ammes of

ammes of

ammes of

tion is better

have at presform of the

the sulphuric acid is not mentioned in the equation, because its amount is unchanged by the reaction. The equation, coupled with the calculation weights of the different elements, provides the data necessary for the solving of problems.

The equation is, in this case,

12

$$Zn + H_2SO_4 = ZnSO_4 + H_2$$

65.5 (2+32+64) (65.5+32+64) 2
98 161.5

That is, 65.5 grammes¹ of zinc acting on 98 grammes of sulphuric acid produces 161.5 grammes of zinc sulphate and 2 grammes of hydrogen. From the information provided by the equation, it is possible to make any calculations which involve merely the *weights* of these four substances; for instance, how much zinc is required in the preparation of 10 grammes of hydrogen, or how much zinc sulphate would be obtained by the action of 150 grammes of sulphuric acid on zinc, and how much zinc would be left unacted on, if 200 grammes of zinc had been used in the last case?

¹ The English weights, such as ounces and pounds, are unusual in scientific chemistry, and are therefore omitted in the sequel.

SIMPLE CALCULATIONS OF WEIGHTS 13

In the preparation of carbon dioxide, marble is acted on by hydrochloric acid, and the equation is

If the question is asked, how much hydrochloric acid is required for the preparation of 60 grammes of carbon dioxide, we have

$$60 \times \frac{1}{4} = 99.54$$
 grammes,

since the equation shows us that 73 grammes of hydrochloric acid are required to produce 44 grammes of carbon dioxide.

If it be required to calculate how much calcium chloride is obtained from 85 grammes of calcium carbonate, we have

$$85 \times \frac{111}{100} = 94.34$$
 grammes,

since the equation shows that III grammes of calcium chloride are obtained from 100 grammes of calcium carbonate. It is easy to calculate also how much hydrochloric acid would be required for this operation, and how much carbon dioxide would be obtained.

tion, tion. ights ssary

ammes of zinc om the ossible ely the e, how of 10 alphate ammes h zinc of zinc

unusual

In the equation

we have data for a multitude of chemical problems.

EXAMPLES

1. Calculate the 'percentage composition of potassium nitrate (KNO₃). (Mason Science Coll., 1883, and Columbia Univ., 1895.) This is equivalent to asking how much of each element 100 grammes of potassium nitrate contains, and from the formula it is known that 101 grammes contain 39 grammes of potassium, 14 grammes of nitrogen, and 48 grammes of oxygen.

Ans. 38.61% potassium; 13.86% nitrogen; 47.53% oxygen.

2. Calculate the percentage composition of calcium sulphate (CaSO₄). (Columbia Univ., 1898.)

Ans. 29.4% calcium; 23.5% sulphur; 47.1% oxygen.

3. Calculate the percentage of oxygen in: (a) water,
(b) manganese dioxide, and (c) potassium chlorate. (Princeton Univ. School of Science, 1893.)

Ans. (a) 88.89; (b) 36.87; (c) 39.18.

14

SIMPLE CALCULATIONS OF WEIGHTS 15

4. What weight of oxygen can be obtained from 408 grammes of potassium chlorate? (Mason Coll., 1882.) Ans. 160 grammes.

5. How many pounds of nitric acid can be obtained by the distillation of 180 lbs. of nitre with sufficient sulphuric acid? (Mason Coll., 1882.) Ans. 112.3 lbs.

6. Oxide of mercury is heated: (1) alone, (2) with carbon, (3) with hydrogen. What products are formed, and what weight of each would be obtained, if 10 grammes of mercuric oxide were used? (Lond. Matric., 1898.)

(1) oxygen, 0.741 gramme; (2) carbon dioxide, 1.019;
(3) water, 0.834.

7. How much hydrogen and oxygen is contained in 180 kilogrammes of water. (Princeton Univ., 1893.)

Ans. 20 kilogrammes hydrogen ; 160 kilogrammes oxygen.

8. Calculate the percentage of carbon, hydrogen, and oxygen in a compound of the formula C₁₂H₂₂O₁₁. (Lond.
Matric., 1890.)

Ans. Carbon, 42.1%; hydrogen, 6.4%; oxygen, 51.5%.

9. 100 grammes of hydrochloric acid are mixed with 100 grammes of dissolved caustic soda. What will be the weight of the compounds contained in the resulting solution? (The Yorkshire Coll., 1890.) There is more acid than is required to neutralize the soda, hence there will be both sodium chloride and hydrochloric acid.

Ans. Sodium chloride, 146 grammes; hydrochloric acid, 8.75 grammes.

lems.

2

umbia umbia ch of ntains, s conrogen,

1.53%

llcium

ygen.

water, rince-

89.18.

10. If 100 parts of barium chloride give 112.1 of barium sulphate, what is the atomic weight of barium? (The York-shire Coll. Scholarship Exam., 1895.)

O = 16 S = 32 Cl = 35.45

This problem is really to calculate the value of x in the equation

$$BaCl_2 + H_2SO_4 = BaSO_4 + 2 HCl$$

x + 70.9 x + 32 + 64

and we are told that the ratio of the chloride to sulphate is 100:112.1.

Therefore
$$\frac{x + 70.9}{x + 32 + 64} = \frac{100}{112.1}$$
, whence $x = 136.7$. Ans.

11. If 75 c.c. of a solution of hydrochloric acid are neutralized by 60 c.c. of a solution of sodium hydroxide containing 0.003 gramme of the alkali per cubic centimetre, what weight of the acid is contained in 1 c.c. of its solution? (Cornell Univ., December, 1897.)

60 c.c. of alkaline solution contains $60 \times 0.003 = 0.18$ gramme of sodium hydroxide, which requires

$$\frac{36.5}{40} \times 0.18 = 0.1642$$
 gramme of acid,

which is contained in 75 c.c.; therefore 1 c.c. contains 0.00219 gramme hydrochloric acid.

12. A solution of potassium hydroxide contains 0.02 gramme of alkali per cubic centimeter, and 15 c.c. of it exactly neutralize 40 c.c. of a solution of hydrochloric acid.

16

SIMPLE CALCUEATIONS OF WEIGHTS 17

How many grammes of hydrochloric acid are contained in 15 c.c. of the acid solution? (Cornell Univ., 1898.)

)

Ans. 0.0733 gramme.

13. A solution of potassium hydroxide contains 0.01 gramme of alkali per cubic centimeter, and 10 c.c. of it exactly neutralize 40 c.c. of a solution of hydrochloric acid. How many grammes of hydrochloric acid are contained in 15 c.c. of the acid solution? Ans. 0.0244 gramme.

14. What weight of chlorine can be produced from 100 grammes of common salt by the reaction

 $2 \operatorname{NaCl} + \operatorname{MnO}_2 + 2 \operatorname{H}_2 \operatorname{SO}_4 = \operatorname{Na}_2 \operatorname{SO}_4 + \operatorname{MnSO}_4 + \operatorname{Cl}_2 + 2 \operatorname{H}_2 \operatorname{O}_2^2$ (Cornell Univ., September, 1895.) Ans. 60.7 grammes.

С

barium e York-

in the

ilphate

Ans.

id are lroxide centic.c. of

= 0.18

ntains

o.o2 of it acid.

CHAPTER III

MORE COMPLEX CALCULATIONS OF WEIGHTS

MORE complex problems than those already given may present themselves.

Problem. — How many grammes of potassium chlorate are required to produce enough oxygen for the complete combustion of 10 grammes of hydrogen?

Two chemical reactions are spoken of in this problem, and it is necessary to know the nature of each reaction, and to be able to express it by an equation. The hydrogen is to be burned, and enough oxygen must be supplied for the purpose. This oxygen is to be obtained from potassium chlorate, of which a requisite quantity must be provided. In the first place, then, we have to consider that 10 grammes of hydrogen are to be burned; that is, are to unite with oxygen to form water.

The equation

$$\begin{array}{rcrcrcc} 2 \ H_2 & + & O_2 & = & 2 \ H_2 O \\ (2 \times 2) & & 3^2 & & (2 \times 18) \\ 4 & & & 3^6 \end{array}$$

18

COMPLEX CALCULATIONS OF WEIGHTS 19

supplies the data necessary for determining the quantity of oxygen, for we are told by it that 4 grammes of hydrogen require 32 grammes of oxygen; 10 grammes of hydrogen therefore require

 $10 \times \frac{32}{4} = 80$ grammes of oxygen.

The oxygen is obtained from potassium chlorate as represented by the equation

$_{2}$ KClO $_{3}$ =	2 KCl +	$3 O_2$
2(39+35.5+48)	2(39+35.5)	(3×32)
245	149	96

which shows that to produce 96 grammes of oxygen, 245 grammes of potassium chlorate must be taken. But the problem stipulates for the providing of 80 grammes of oxygen, therefore $245 \times \frac{80}{96} = 204.2$ grammes of potassium chlorate¹ are required.

Another problem of the same nature.

Problem. — How much carbon dioxide can be set free from marble by the hydrochloric acid obtained from 30 grammes of common salt? The solving of this problem involves the knowledge of how hydrochloric acid is obtained from common salt; and also of how hydrochloric acid acts on marble. When sul-

¹ See Appendix B.

S

given

n chlofor the en? s probf each hation. xygen n is to hich a e first nes of e with

phuric acid is put upon common salt and the mixture strongly enough heated, the reaction takes place in the manner shown by the equation

2 NaCl	+	H_2SO_4	=	2 HCl	+	Na_2SO_4
2(23+35.5)	(:	2+32+64		2(1+35.5)		(46+32+64)
117		98		73		142

117 grammes of common salt produce 73 grammes of hydrochloric acid, therefore 30 grammes of common salt (the amount given in the problem) will produce

 $\frac{30}{117} \times 73 = 18.7$ grammes of hydrochloric acid.

The equation

20

 $\begin{array}{cccc} CaCO_3 &+ & 2 \ HCl &= & CaCl_2 &+ & H_2O &+ & CO_2 \\ (40+12+48) & 2(1+35.5) & (40+71) & (2+16) & (12+32) \\ 100 & 73 & 111 & 18 & 44 \end{array}$

shows that 73 grammes of hydrochloric acid set free 44 grammes of carbon dioxide; therefore, 18.7 grammes of hydrochloric acid would set free

 $\frac{18.7}{73} \times 44 = 11.27$ grammes of carbon dioxide.

These equations, as put down above, give a great many more data than are necessary for the problem

COMPLEX CALCULATIONS OF WEIGHTS 21

ixture ace in

 SO_4 2+64) 2 ummes f comh) will

cid.

 $\begin{array}{c}
 \text{CO}_{2} \\
 \frac{2+3^{2}}{44} \\
 \text{id set} \\
 e, 18.7
 \end{array}$

de.

great oblem in hand. It is advisable for the beginner to write out equations in full with the numerical values for each term; but when familiarity with the process is gained it is much neater to see what is needed and to make no more calculations than are necessary. In the last problem the only substances whose quantity is referred to are carbon dioxide, hydrochloric acid, and common salt; and though the quantity of hydrochloric acid is referred to, we are not asked to determine that quantity, though we did so in working out the problem. This is not necessary, however, as may be seen by a consideration of the two equations

 $2 \operatorname{NaCl} + \operatorname{H}_2 \operatorname{SO}_4 = 2 \operatorname{HCl} + \operatorname{Na}_2 \operatorname{SO}_4$ $_{117} \qquad 73$ $\operatorname{CaCO}_3 + 2 \operatorname{HCl} = \operatorname{CaCl}_2 + \operatorname{H}_2 \operatorname{O} + \operatorname{CO}_2$ $_{44}$

These two equations as just written show that 117 grammes of common salt produce 73 grammes of hydrochloric acid, and that 73 grammes of hydrochloric acid acting on marble produce 44 grammes of carbon dioxide; so that 117 grammes of sodium chloride produce enough hydrochloric acid to liberate 44 grammes of carbon dioxide. Thirty grammes of

common salt will therefore produce enough hydrochloric acid to liberate

 $44 \times \frac{30}{117} = 11.27$ grammes of carbon dioxide,

which is the same result as already obtained.

Another example of the same nature.

Problem. — How much potassium must act on water in order to produce enough hydrogen to combine with 6 grammes of oxygen?

Potassium acts on water according to the equation

$$2 \text{ K} + 2 \text{ H}_2 \text{ O} = 2 \text{ KOH} + \text{ H}_2$$

(2 × 39)
78

and hydrogen combines with oxygen according to the equation

$$\begin{array}{cccccccc} 2 H_2 & + & O_2 & = & 2 H_2 O \\ (2 \times 2) & & 3^2 \\ 4 \end{array}$$

The problem may be worked out at full length, but by inspection of the second equation it may be seen that 32 grammes of oxygen require 4 grammes of hydrogen; and by inspection of the first equation, that in order to produce 2 grammes of hydrogen,

COMPLEX CALCULATIONS OF WEIGHTS 23

78 grammes of potassium are required, and therefore to produce 4 grammes of hydrogen $78 \times 2 = 156$ grammes of potassium are required.

156 grammes of potassium are therefore required to produce enough hydrogen to combine with 32 grammes of oxygen, and hence, in order to produce enough hydrogen to combine with 6 grammes of oxygen $156 \times \frac{6}{32} = 29.25$ grammes of potassium are required.

It is evident that the above problem might be enlarged by the inquiry how much hydrogen would be left over if 36 grammes of potassium had been used, and it would merely remain to calculate how much hydrogen is produced by the action on water of 36-29.25 = 6.75 grammes of potassium.

Problem. — How much nitrogen is produced by the complete combustion of the ammonia obtained by the action of caustic potash on 15 grammes of ammonium chloride?

Ammonia burns according to the equation

$$4 \text{ NH}_{3} + 3\text{O}_{2} = 2 \text{ N}_{2} + 6 \text{ H}_{2}\text{O}$$

(2 × 28)
56

ydro-

t on com-

ation

ng to

h, but seen es of ation, ogen,
24

and is produced from ammonium chloride according to the equation

 $NH_4Cl + KOH = KCl + H_2O + NH_3$ (14+4+35.5) 53.5

The first equation shows that 56 grammes of nitrogen are produced by the combustion of four times the formula weight of ammonia. The second equation shows that 53.5 grammes of ammonium chloride are required to yield the formula weight of ammonia, and therefore $53.5 \times 4 = 214$ grammes of ammonium chloride are required to yield *four times* the formula weight of ammonia. Therefore 214 grammes of ammonium chloride give 56 grammes of nitrogen; 15 grammes of ammonium chloride will therefore give

 $56 \times \frac{15}{214} = 3.93$ grammes of nitrogen.

In these equations we have set down the formula weights of two substances only. Of these the problem gives the actual weight used of one, and asks for the actual weight obtained of the other.

One who has had very considerable experience in working problems would see that the problem

COMPLEX CALCULATIONS OF WEIGHTS 25

above, expressed in its simplest terms, involves merely the question how much nitrogen is contained in 15 grammes of ammonium chloride, because the second equation shows that all of the nitrogen in ammonium chloride is obtained as ammonia; and the first equation shows that all of the nitrogen in ammonia is set free in the combustion. For solving this problem we need merely use the calculation weights in the formula of ammonium chloride, and see that 53.5 grammes of ammonium chloride contain 14 grammes of nitrogen, and therefore 15 grammes of ammonium chloride contain

$$14 \times \frac{15}{53.5} = 3.93$$
 grammes of nitrogen,

the same result as already obtained.

The problem may involve still more chemical reactions and become still more complicated. (Such complicated problems, though seldom set in examinations, are a splendid exercise for the student.)

Problem. — Ten grammes of sulphur are burned in oxygen, and the sulphur dioxide produced entirely dissolved in water. How much manganese dioxide is required to produce enough chlorine to oxidize the sulphur dioxide to sulphuric acid?

ding

 NH_3

es of four econd onium ght of nes of *times* e 214 immes loride

> rmula probasks

> > ience blem

Here three distinct chemical reactions are involved, and we need, therefore, three equations to provide the necessary data. Sulphur burns in oxygen according to the equation

$$S + O_2 = SO_2$$

32 (32 + 32)
64

Chlorine acts on sulphur dioxide in water according to the equation

 $2 H_2O + SO_2 + Cl_2 = 2 HCl + H_2SO_4$ and manganese dioxide produces chlorine according

to the equation

The equations show that 32 grammes of sulphur produce 64 grammes of sulphur dioxide, which require for conversion into sulphuric acid, 71 grammes of chlorine, which are produced by the action of hydrochloric acid on 87 grammes of manganese dioxide. Since 32 grammes of sulphur require 87 grammes of manganese dioxide, 10 grammes of sulphur will require

ż

a T

m

gı

 \mathbf{p}

of

 $87 \times \frac{10}{32} = 27.19$ grammes of manganese dioxide.

COMPLEX CALCULATIONS OF WEIGHTS 27

EXAMPLES

1. The hydrogen obtained from 6.55 grammes of zinc (acted on by acid) is passed over heated mercuric oxide. What weight of water is produced and how much mercury? Ans. 1.8 grammes water ; 20 grammes mercury.

2. What weight of potassium nitrate is required to produce enough nitric acld to make 10 grammes of cupric nitrate? Ans. 10.77 grammes.

3. How much calcium carbonate could be made from the carbon dioxide obtained by heating 15 grammes of oxalic acid (anhydrous) with strong sulphuric acid?

Ans. 16.67 grammes.

4. What amount of ammonium nitrate would produce enough nitrous oxide for the complete combustion of 36 grammes of carbon? Ans. 480 grammes.

5. If 10 grammes of potassium permanganate were distilled with a concentrated solution of hydrogen chloride, and the evolved gas were passed into a solution of sulphur dioxide, what amount of sulphuric acid would be produced? (Lond. Univ. Inter. Sci., 1893.)

The equations are

 $2 \text{ KMnO}_4 + 16 \text{ HCl} = 2 \text{ KCl} + 2 \text{ MnCl}_2 + 8 \text{ H}_2\text{O} + 5 \text{ Cl}_2$ and $2 \text{ H}_2\text{O} + \text{SO}_2 + \text{Cl}_2 = 2 \text{ HCl} + \text{H}_2\text{SO}_4$ These equations show that $2 \times 158 = 316$ grammes of permanganate provide enough chlorine to produce $5 \times 98 = 490$ grammes of sulphuric acid, therefore 15.5 grammes sulphuric acid is the amount produced by the 10 grammes of permanganate.

are inions to in oxy-

accord-

H₂SO₄

ccording

+ Cl_2 7¹

hur prorequire nmes of f hydrodioxide. rammes hur will

bxide.

CHAPTER IV

THE VOLUME OF GASES

WHILE it is possible to make calculations for the *weights* of solids, liquids, and gases involved in a chemical reaction, it is also possible to make calculations for the *volumes* of *gases*, though not for the volumes of 1 liquids and solids.

As, however, the volume of a gas changes with its pressure and temperature, it is necessary to state always at what pressure and temperature the gases are measured. Before attempting to make calculations, it will be necessary to consider the manner in which pressure and temperature affect the volume.

Effect of Pressure

Sir Robert Boyle, in the year 1662, showed that when the temperature of a gas remains constant, the volume varies inversely as the pressure. If a quantity of air, for example, has a volume of 10 gallons or 10 cubic feet or 10 litres, at the ordinary atmospheric pressure, it would have a volume of 5

THE VOLUME OF GASES

29

for the ed in a ake calnot for

ges with to state ne gases calculaanner in olume.

wed that constant, e. If a f 10 galordinary ime of 5 gallons or 5 cubic feet or 5 litres, at 2 atmospheres' pressure, and 20 gallons or 20 cubic feet or 20 litres, at one-half of an atmosphere's pressure. The statement that the volume varies inversely as the pressure is called *Boyle's Law* and may be expressed algebraically in various forms, such as

$$V \propto \frac{1}{P}$$
, or $VP = \text{constant}$,

or, if V be the volume at pressure P, the volume V_1 when the pressure is P_1 will be such that

$$V_1 P_1 = V P$$
, or $V_1 = V \frac{P}{P_1}$ *

It is evident that if any three of the four quantities are given, the remaining one may be calculated. Pressure may be measured in atmospheres, or it may be measured in pounds per square inch, or it may be measured by the height of a column of mercury, since a liquid exerts a pressure pro-

* It is evident that these three forms mean the same thing, because $V \propto \frac{1}{P}$ means that as the volume increases the pressure diminishes in the same ratio, and *vice versa*. Since the one factor increases exactly in the same ratio as the other factor decreases, the product of the two must always remain constant; and since this is so *always*, it must be true in the particular case where the volume changes from V to V_1 owing to the change of pressure from P to P_1 .

30

portional to its height. This last method is the most common in chemical work. Atmospheric pressure is ordinarily taken as equal to the pressure which is exerted by a column of mercury 30 inches or 760 mm. high. A pressure of 36.5 inches is therefore more than an atmosphere, and a pressure of 700 mm. is less than an atmosphere. We usually say the gas is under a pressure of so many millimetres.

Problem. — If a quantity of oxygen has a volume of 15 litres at a pressure of 760 mm., what would be its volume under a pressure of 800 mm.? (The full form of expression is, "under a pressure equal to that exerted by a column of mercury 760 mm. high or 800 mm. high," but the shorter form is usually employed.)

Here V = 15 P = 760 $P_1 = 800$ Therefore $V_1 = 15 \times \frac{760}{800} = 14.25$ litres.

In the calculation one does not need to trouble with the formula, but merely ask oneself whether the volume will be greater or less under the new conditions. If the volume of the oxygen is 15 litres

THE VOLUME OF GASES

he most pressure e which sches or s theressure of usually y milli-

volume yould be The full equal to m. high usually

)

trouble whether he new 15 litres at 760 mm. pressure, it is evident that it will be less at a pressure of 800 mm. in the ratio of $\frac{760}{800}$: 1; the volume then at 800 mm. will be $15 \times \frac{760}{800}$.

Problem. — If the volume of a quantity of hydrogen is 25 litres with a pressure of 720 mm., what pressure will the gas have when the volume is 30 litres?

Here it is evident that the pressure will be less, since the gas is allowed to expand. The pressure will therefore be

 $720 \times \frac{25}{30} = 600$ mm.

Problem. — What volume must carbon monoxide have had at a pressure of 650 mm. if its volume is 18 litres at a pressure of 500 mm.?

Evidently the volume must have been less at 650 mm. than at 500 mm., so that we have

 $18 \times \frac{500}{650} = 13.84$ litres.

EFFECT OF TEMPERATURE

The volume of a gas is also affected by the temperature, becoming greater as the temperature rises, and less as the temperature falls.

32

The volume is proportional to the temperature, provided we measure the temperature in a certain way.

It is hardly to be expected that we could use the ordinary thermometric scales, however, because the zero in the centigrade and Réaumur scales is fixed merely by the temperature at which water *happens* to freeze, and in the Fahrenheit scale the zero is still more accidental. In all of these scales we have temperatures *below* zero, which shows that the scales are arbitrary.¹

The law that governs the change of volume with temperature could be determined by taking a long glass tube closed at one end, and graduated from theclosed end toward the open end. Suppose the tube graduated into 500 equal parts. When the whole tube and the contained air is at 0° C., insert a small globule of mercury, and by making a passage for the enclosed air by means of a platinum wire passed through the mercury, cause the latter to move down the tube till it reaches the 273 mark. The mercury now shuts in a volume of air which occupies 273 divisions of the tube, the pressure being that of the atmosphere (if the weight of the mercury is negli-

¹ See Appendix C.

THE VOLUME OF GASES

e, proway. se the se the fixed appcns ero is e have scales

e with long m the tube whole small e for assed down rcury 273 f the negligible, or if the tube be held horizontally) and the temperature being 0° C.

If the tube be heated till the temperature is 1° C., the mercury will be driven outward till it reaches the mark 274, where it will remain so long as the temperature stays at 1° C. If the tube be heated to 2° C., the mercury will stand at the mark 275; at 10° C., the volume of the enclosed air will be 283, the mercury standing at the mark 283. At the temperature 100° C. the volume occupied by the air will be 373 divisions, the mercury standing at the mark 373. When the temperature reaches 227° C., the mercury will be just driven out from the tube, the air having expanded to fill the 500 divisions.

On the other hand, if the tube had been cooled down to -10° C., the volume of the air would have been found to be 263 divisions; if cooled down to -25° C., the volume would have been 248 divisions. In general, for every degree rise or fall of temperature, the air which occupied the volume of 273 divisions at 0° C. expands or contracts through one division in the tube. If this law holds to the very lowest temperatures, it follows that at -200° C. the volume of the air would be 73; at -250° C. the

D

34

volume would be 23; and at -273° C. the volume would be reduced to zero. This temperature is called the absolute zero of the air thermometer; and if temperatures are measured from this zero instead of from the artificial zeros of the ordinary thermometers, the volume of the air is proportional to its temperature. This is usually called *Charles's Law*, and is expressed in the following form :

If the pressure remain constant, the volume of air, or any gas, is proportional to the temperature measured from the absolute zero.

The zero of the ordinary centigrade thermometer is 273° above the absolute zero, and therefore whenever temperatures are given in degrees centigrade, 273 degrees must be added in order to arrive at the absolute temperature. If T represent the absolute temperature, Charles's Law may be expressed by the formula

$$V \propto T$$
, or $\frac{V}{T}$ = constant;

or if V be the volume at temperature T, the volume V_1 when the temperature is T_1 will be such that

$$\frac{V_1}{T_1} = \frac{V}{T}$$
, or $V_1 = V \frac{T_1}{T}$

THE VOLUME OF GASES

olume called and if nstead rmomto its *Law*,

of air, meas-

whengrade, at the osolute by the

olume t **Problem.** — If the volume of a quantity of carbon monoxide at 0° C. is 18 litres, what will be its volume at 25° C.?

o° C. = 273° absolute temperature, 25° C. = 273 + 25 = 298° absolute temperature; therefore, T = 273, $T_1 = 298$, and hence $V_1 = 18 \times \frac{298}{278} = 19.64$ litres.

Just as in the case of pressures, instead of following the formula slavishly, we may ask ourselves, will the volume be greater or less under the new conditions _ than under the old ? In this case, we see the volume must be greater, therefore we multiply 18, the original volume, by $\frac{298}{273}$. This common sense way of looking at the question will always prevent mistakes.

Problem. — What must the temperature be so that the gas which occupies a volume of 15 litres at 20° C. will occupy a volume of 16.5 litres? The temperature, 20° C., is $273 + 20 = 293^{\circ}$ absolute, therefore T = 293. The new temperature must evidently be greater than this because the gas expands from 15 litres to 16.5 litres. Therefore

$$T_1 = 293 \times \frac{16.5}{15} = 322.3^\circ \text{ absolute} = 49^\circ 3 \text{ C}.$$

It is evident that the pressure and temperature of a gas may change simultaneously, and it is necessary to be able to calculate the volume under these circumstances.

This is done by a combination of *Boyle's* Law and *Charles's* Law.

Boyle's Law gives VP = const.

Charles's Law gives $\frac{V}{T} = \text{const.}$

These two combined give

$$\frac{VP}{T} = \text{const.}, \text{ or } \frac{VP}{T} = \frac{V_1P_1}{T_1}$$

where V, P, and T are the original volume, pressure, and absolute temperature, and V_1 , P_1 , and T_1 are the final volume, pressure, and temperature. If any *five* of these values are given, the *sixth* may be calculated.

[NOTE. — If the mathematics given above is not clear, the following proof may be read:

Let V, P, and T be the original volume, pressure, and absolute temperature of the gas V_1 , P_1 , T_1 , the final volume, pressure, and absolute temperature. Let us assume that the volume changes, first owing to change of pressure from P to P_1 , the

THE VOLUME OF GASES

37

temperature remaining constant at T. Call the volume, under these new circumstances, v; then by Boyle's Law

$$v = V \frac{P}{P_1}$$

Let now the temperature change from T to T_1 ; the volume will change from v to V_1 because V_1 is the volume that the gas occupies when both pressure and temperature are changed.

By Charles's Law
$$V_1 = v \frac{T_1}{T} = V \frac{P}{P_1} \times \frac{T_1}{T}$$

 $\frac{VP}{T} = \frac{V_1 P_1}{T_1}$

or

Problem. — The quantity of chlorine which occupies a volume of 12 litres at 720 mm. and 10° C. has the pressure changed to 780 mm. and the temperature to 20° C. What is the new volume?

Here V = 12 P = 720 $P_1 = 780$ T = 273 + 10 = 283 $T_1 = 273 + 20 = 293$

Therefore, by applying the formula, we find

 $V_1 = 12 \times \frac{720}{780} \times \frac{293}{283} = 11.46$ litres.

re of necesthese

v and

are any cal-

s not

, *P*₁, pera-

press-

first , the

In working such examples, instead of following the formula slavishly, we may arrive at the correct arrangement of the factors by a little consideration of the conditions. This may be seen in the following

Problem. — At what temperature must a gas be, so that its volume will be 15 litres when the pressure is 800 mm., if its volume is 17.5 litres when its temperature is 100° C., and the pressure 700 mm.?

The temperature 100° C. = $273 + 100 = 373^{\circ}$ absolute; we have now to consider what the new temperature will be.

The temperature of the gas when its volume is 15 litres would be *less* than when its volume was 17.5 litres (other things being equal). Therefore, if the volume alone be considered, the temperature would be

$$373 \times \frac{15}{17.5}$$

But the gas in the final condition is to be under greater pressure than at the beginning, and therefore would require a *higher* temperature if the volume had remained constant, therefore we must multiply by $\frac{800}{700}$, which is the ratio of the two pressures.

Therefore $T_1 = 373 \times \frac{15}{17.5} \times \frac{800}{700} = 365^{\circ}.4$ $365^{\circ}.4 - 273^{\circ} = 92^{\circ}.4 \text{ C}.$

EXAMPLES

1. If a quantity of nitrogen under 900 mm. pressure at 20° C. occupies a volume of 300 c.c., what volume will it occupy at 100° under 600 mm. pressure? (Cornell Univ., September, 1895.) Ans. 573 c.c

2. What would be the volume under standard conditions of a mass of oxygen whose volume is 60 c.c. at 40° C. under a pressure of 750 mm. of mercury? (Cornell Univ., December, 1897.) Ans. 51.67 c.c.

3. If 1000 c.c. of chlorine at 40° C. stand in a tube over mercury, the level within the tube being 30 mm. above that without, and the barometric pressure being 750 mm., what would be the volume of the gas under standard conditions? (Cornell Univ., September, 1896.)

Since the level of mercury in the tube is 30 mm. above that without, the pressure is 750 - 30 = 720 mm.

Ans. 826.4 c.c.

39

4. If 2000 c.c. of nitrogen at 27° C. stand in a eudiometer over mercury, the level within the tube being 30 mm. below that without, and the barometric pressure being 750 mm., what would be the volume of the gas under standard conditions? (Cornell Univ., December, 1896.) Pressure in the tube is 750 + 30 = 780 mm.

Ans. 1868 c.c.

wing orrect ation wing s be,

ress-

litres

ssure

absotem-

ne is was fore, ture

nder fore ume iply 40

5. If 1250 c.c. of nitrogen at 37° C. stand in a eudiometer over mercury, the level within the tube being 28 mm. above that without, and the barometric pressure being 747 mm., what would be the volume of the gas under standard conditions? Ans. 1041 c.c.

If the gas had been standing over water instead of mercury, the pressure in the tube would have been $\left(747 - \frac{28}{13.6}\right)$ mm., since 1 mm. of mercury exerts the same pressure as 13.6 mm. of water.

6. If a quantity of hydrogen occupies 500 c.c. in a tube over mercury, the level within the tube being 40 mm. below that without, the temperature being 20° C., and the barometric pressure 730 mm., what volume will it occupy at 25° C. if the barometric pressure is 750 mm. and the level within the tube is 30 mm. above that without? (Cornell Univ., September, 1898.) Ans. 544 c.c.

7. If a quantity of air occupy 500 c.c. in a tube over mercury, the level within the tube being 70 mm. above that without, the temperature being 40° C. and the barometric pressure 740 mm., what volume will it occupy at 20° C., the barometric pressure being 720 mm. and the level within the tube 25 mm. below that without? (Cornell Univ., September, 1897.) Ans. 421 c.c.

8. 1.041 litres of hydrogen, measured under standard conditions, is placed in a tube over mercury, the temperature being 37° C. If the volume of the gas is now 1250 c.c., at

w is

to 40 m

at wo the pr dia

7

put mo ure pre to

and

hav

wat

of t

beir

what height must the mercury be if the barometric pressure is 755 mm.? Ans. 36 mm.

9. If 186.8 c.c. of air under normal conditions expand to 2 litres and the level of the mercury inside the tube is 40 mm. below that without, the barometer standing at 740 mm., what must be the temperature? Ans. 27° C.

10. If a quantity of moist nitrogen has a volume 25 c.c. at a pressure of 750 mm. and temperature 16° C., what would be its volume when dried, the temperature remaining the same, but the pressure changing to 700 mm.? The pressure of water vapour at 16° C. is 13.5 mm. (see Appendix F); therefore the pressure of the nitrogen alone is 750 - 13.5 = 736.5 mm., and $25 \times \frac{736.5}{700} = 26.3$ c.c. Ans.

11. If 60 c.c. of dry oxygen at 25° C. has enough water put in to saturate the gas, what will be the volume of the moist gas, the pressure remaining at the atmospheric pressure, 750 mm.? If the gas were not allowed to expand, its pressure would become 750 + 23.5; therefore, if allowed to expand so that the pressure will remain the same, its volume must increase to $60 \times \frac{773.5}{750} = 61.9$ c.c.

12. What volume would a quantity of air, when dried and measured over mercury, under standard conditions, have, if it occupied a volume of 100 c.c. measured over water, and fully saturated with aqueous vapour, the height of the water in the tube being 27.2 cm., the temperature being 20° C., and the barometer height 750 mm.?

ndiomm. being inder 1 c.c. mer- $\frac{28}{13.6}$ ire as

tube below baro-1py at e level lornell 44 C.C. e over re that metric 20° C., within Univ., 21 C.C. andard erature c.c., at 27.2 cm. of water equals 2 cm. or 20 mm. of mercury; therefore the pressure of the moist air is 730, and of the dry air 712.5, since the pressure of the water vapour is 17.5 mm. (nearly).

The required volume is therefore

$$100 \times \frac{712.5}{760} \times \frac{273}{293} = 87.36$$
 c.c.

13. If a glass tube one square centimetre in crosssection be filled with mercury and inverted over a mercury trough, dry air passed in till the mercury stands at a division of the tube 20 cm. from the closed end, and 30 mm. above the mercury outside, the barometer being 750 mm. and the temperature 20° C., what would be the volume of the air under standard conditions? (The mean coefficient of expansion of mercury between 0° C. and 30° C. is 0.00018143.)

This question evidently involves making a correction for the expansion of mercury, otherwise the data would not be given. The barometer reading will be higher than it would be if the mercury were at o°, and so will be the column of mercury in the tube. The pressure on the gas will not therefore be exactly 750 - 30 = 720 mm., but a less number for mercury at o° would not have so great a height. The coefficient of expansion of mercury being 0.00018143, means that the expansion of each millimetre is that amount for every degree rise in temperature, and therefore 0.0036286 for 20°, and a millimetre length at o° would become 1.0036286 mm. at 20°. A column of mer-

THE VOLUME OF GASES

cury 720 mm. long at 20° would therefore be $\frac{720}{1.0036286}$ = 717.4 mm. long at 0°. 717.4 mm. is therefore the actual pressure of the gas, and the problem resolves itself into a calculation of the volume of a gas at 0° and 760 mm., its volume being 20 c.c. at 20° and 717.4 mm. Ans. 17.6 c.c.

14. What is the actual pressure on the gas in a tube, the level of mercury inside and outside the tube being the same when the barometer reads 760 mm. at 25° C.?

Ans. 756.6.

43

oury; of the our is

crossercury a divio mm. o mm. volume coeffi-30° C.

ion for ald not than it be the the gas , but a o great y being llimetre re, and h at o° of mer-

CHAPTER V

CALCULATIONS INVOLVING WEIGHT AND VOLUME

THE formula of a substance always denotes a certain definite *weight* of that substance, for instance, NH_3 denotes a weight of ammonia 17; it may be pounds or tons or ounces or grammes or kilogrammes. In the same way CO_2 denotes a weight 44, of carbon dioxide, and HCl denotes a weight of 36.5 of hydrochloric acid.

But it is quite evident that this definite *weight* of ammonia will have a definite fixed *volume*, if the gas be measured always at the same temperature and pressure, so that NH_3 represents a certain definite *volume*.

17 pounds of ammonia will occupy a certain definite number of cubic feet when measured at 0° C. and 760 mm. pressure; 17 tons of ammonia will occupy a larger volume under the same conditions, but 17 tons of ammonia will occupy the same volume tomorrow as it does to-day, provided the pressure and temperature remain the same.

In chemical calculations we do not ordinarily use pounds or tons as the unit of weight, nor cubic feet as the unit of volume, but grammes as the unit of weight, and litres as the unit of volume.

17 grammes of ammonia at 0° C. and 760 mm. occupy the volume 22.4 *litres* (more exactly 22.38 litres), and the formula NH_3 represents 22.4 *litres* of ammonia at the standard temperature and pressure, quite as readily as it represents 17 grammes of ammonia.

In the same manner 44 grammes of carbon dioxide, represented by the formula CO_2 , occupy a certain definite volume at the standard temperature o° C. and 760 mm. This volume is 22.4 *litres*; so also 36.5 grammes of hydrochloric acid, represented by the formula HCl, occupy a certain definite volume at the standard temperature and pressure. This volume is 22.4 *litres*.

In general, though the formulæ of different gases represent different *weights*, they always represent the same *volume* at the standard temperature and pressure, and this volume is 22.4 *litres*. This is sometimes called the gramme-molecular volume, but so far as calculations are concerned, it need be con-

AE cerince, y be mes. .rbon ydro-

ht of e gas and finite

defi-2. and 2. cupy ut 17 ne to-2. and

sidered only as the volume which is occupied by the formula weight in *grammes*, quite independently of the existence or non-existence of molecules.

Now *two* grammes of hydrogen occupy the volume 22.4 litres at the standard temperature and pressure; therefore if the formula of hydrogen is to represent this fact, it must be written H_2 , for H represents only *one* gramme of hydrogen.

In the same way *thirty-two* grammes of oxygen occupy the volume 22.4 litres, and if the formula of oxygen is to represent this fact, it must be written O_2 , since O represents only *sixteen* grammes.

On the other hand, 200 grammes of mercury vapour, measured at the standard temperature and pressure, would occupy 22.4 litres; therefore if the formula of mercury is to represent this fact, it must be written Hg, since Hg represents 200 grammes.¹

Still further: 124 grammes of phosphorus, when volatilized, occupy a volume corresponding to 22.4

¹ Of course mercury vapour cannot be made to exert a pressure of 760 mm. at 0° C., but if heated till it boils it would have a pressure of 760 mm. (the pressure of the atmosphere), and the volume of 200 grammes at that temperature would be the same as that of 32 grammes of oxygen at that temperature, and 32 grammes of oxygen at the *stand-ard* temperature and pressure has the volume 22.4 litres.

' the y of ume ure; sent only ygen a of itten cury and the nust 1 vhen 22.4 re of re of f 200

nmes

tand-

litres, and therefore if the formula of phosphorus is to represent this fact, it must be written P_4 , since P represents only 31 grammes.

Sulphur a little above its boiling point has a volume such that its formula should be S_6 ; at a very high temperature it is represented by the formula S_2 .

The formula of a gas must always represent a volume 22.4 litres at the standard temperature and pressure.

H2 represents 2 grammes of hydrogen and occupies a volume 22.4 litres

O_2	66	32	66	oxygen	"	**	22.4	"
\mathbf{N}_2	"	28	"	nitrogen	"	**	22.4	"
Cl_2	"	7 I	"	chlorine	"	66	22.4	"
O ₃	"	48	"	ozone	••	66	22.4	"
\mathbf{P}_4	"	124	66	phosphorus	"	66	22.4	"
As ₄	6:	300	"	arsenic	""	66	22.4	"
Hg	61	200	• •	mercury	"	"	22.4	"
HCl	"	36.5	"	hydrochloric acid	"	"	22.4	"
CO	"	28	"	carbon monoxide	"	••	22.4	"
CO_2	"	44	••	carbon dioxide	"	"	22.4	"
CH4	"	16	"	methane	"	66	22.4	"
C_2H_2	"	26	"	acetylene	"	66	22.4	"
C ₆ H ₆	"	78	"	benzol	"	"	22.4	"
C_2H_6O	"	46	"	alcohol	"	"	22.4	"

The relative weight of the different gases can easily be seen from the above table. For instance, chlorine is $\frac{71}{32}$ times as heavy as oxygen, while carbon monoxide has the same density as nitrogen. Air,

which is made up of oxygen and nitrogen, has a density lying between them, being nearer that of nitrogen, since this element forms the larger portion of the atmosphere. 22.4 litres of air weigh 28.8 grammes. The specific gravity of any of the gases (that is, its density compared with air) is therefore obtained by dividing its formula weight by 28.8. Thus arsenic vapour is more than 10 times as heavy as air; that is, its specific gravity is greater than 10.

Acetylene and benzol have the same percentage composition which could be represented by the formula CH; but if this were the formula of either of them, 13 grammes would occupy the volume 22.4 litres. Such is not the case, however: 26 grammes of acetylene occupy the volume 22.4 litres, therefore its formula is C_2H_2 ; and 78 grammes of benzol vapour occupy the volume 22.4 litres, and therefore C_6H_6 is the formula for benzol. There is abundant additional evidence in favour of these formulæ, but for the purpose of calculation nothing more is required.

Facts similar to the ones given above caused Avogadro to make the statement in 1811 that equal volumes of gases at the same temperature and pressure contain equal numbers of molecules, and this (I m

di

an

an

dia

WC

a

49

denitrothe mes. s, its l by senic that

tage forer of 22.4hmes efore pour H_6 is addit for ed. used qual ressthis statement is usually called *Avogadro's Law*. It was neglected for a long time, because chemists did not have a clear conception of the facts at the foundation of it, and the facts known were not so numerous or varied as at present.

So far as concerns calculations Avogadro's Law might be expressed: The formula weight in grammes, of a gas measured at 0° C. and 760 mm., occupies a volume of 22.4 litres.

Problem. — What volume of carbon dioxide is got from the combustion of 10 litres of carbon monoxide, and what volume of oxygen is required?

The necessary equation is

2 volumes I volume 2 volumes 2 \times 22.4 litres 22.4 litres 2 \times 22.4 litres 2 CO + O₂ = 2 CO₂

(It is convenient to write weights beneath the formulæ and volumes above.)

The equation shows that the volume of the carbon dioxide is exactly the same as that of the monoxide, and that the volume of the oxygen is half as great; and, therefore, in the case given, 10 litres of carbon dioxide would be produced, and 5 litres of oxygen would be required for the combustion.

Е

Problem. — What volume of hydrochloric acid is obtained when 6 litres of hydrogen unite with chlorine?

The equation is

I volume	I volume	2 volumes
22.4 litres	22.4 litres	2×22.4 litres
H_2 ·	$+ Cl_2 =$	2 HCl

The volume of the hydrochloric acid is therefore double that of the hydrogen; therefore, in the case given, 12 litres of hydrochloric acid would be obtained.

Since the formula represents *weight* as well as *volume*, the *weight* of *one* substance might be given, and the *volume* of *another* required, or *vice versa*. (It is of course to be remembered that the volume of *gases only* can enter into the problem.)

Problem. — What volume of oxygen at the normal temperature and pressure can be obtained from 10 grammes of potassium chlorate? The equation is

3 volumes $3 \times 22.4 \text{ litres}$ $2 \text{ KClO}_3 = 2 \text{ KCl} + 3 \text{ O}_2$ 2(39 + 35.5 + 48)245 ti m ra w

g

be of

wi ter

it obt:

d is with

efore case d be

ell as given, *versa*. olume

ormal om 10 n is showing that 245 grammes of chlorate yield $3 \times 22.4 = 67.2$ litres of oxygen. Therefore, 10 grammes of chlorate will yield

 $67.2 \times \frac{10}{245} = 2.74$ litres.

We now see why we should not write the equation in the form $KClO_3 = KCl + O_3$. This would mean that when 122.5 grammes of potassium chlorate are heated, 22.4 litres of *ozone* are obtained, which is not true.

Nor should it be written $KClO_3 = KCl + 3 O$, because O_2 and not O represents the formula weight of oxygen *corresponding to the standard volume*.

Problem. — What weight of ammonium nitrate will provide 10 litres of nitrous oxide at the normal temperature and pressure (0° C. and 760 mm.)?

From the equation

$$NH_4NO_3 = 2 H_2O + N_2O$$

$$(14 + 4 + 14 + 48)$$
80

it is seen that 22.4 litres of nitrous oxide are obtained from 80 grammes of ammonium nitrate;

5 I

therefore, 10 litres of nitrous oxide are obtained from

 $80 \times \frac{10}{22.4} = 35.71$ grammes of ammonium nitrate.

Since ammonium nitrate is a solid, its volume cannot be calculated.

Problem. — What volume of hydrogen measured at 0° C. and 700 mm. can be obtained by the action of sulphuric acid on 10 grammes of zinc?

The equation

					I	volume	2
					22.4 litres		s
Zn	+	H_2SO_4	=	Zn SO ₄	+	H_2	
65.5						-	

shows that 65.5 grammes of zinc yield 22.4 litres of hydrogen at the standard temperature and pressure, 0° C. and 760 mm.; therefore 10 grammes of zinc will under these conditions yield

$$22.4 \times \frac{10}{65.5} = 3.42$$
 litres.

а

t v a

le

8

W

а (с

po is

ur

be

In the problem the temperature is the standard temperature, but the pressure is not the standard pressure, so that a correction must be made for the pressure. Since the pressure, 700 mm., in the

tained

rate.

olume

asured action

es

1 litres pressmes of

andard andard for the in the example is less than the normal pressure, the volume must be greater than that calculated above. The volume will, therefore, be

$3.42 \times \frac{760}{700} = 3.71$ litres.

Problem. — What weight of copper is required to produce 15 litres of nitric oxide at 800 mm. and 20° C.?

Since equations give the relation between weight and volume at the standard pressure and temperature, it is necessary first of all to calculate the volume of the nitric oxide at this *normal pressure* and temperature.

The normal (or standard) *pressure*, 760 mm., is less than that at which the gas is measured, namely, 800 mm.; and therefore the volume at 760 mm. will be $\frac{800}{760}$ times as great.

The standard *temperature* is lower, and on that account the volume would be less. The normal (or standard) temperature is 273° absolute temperature, while that at which the gas is measured is $273 + 20 = 293^{\circ}$ absolute, and therefore the volume at the normal temperature (temperature alone being considered) is $\frac{273}{293}$ times as great. When 54

change of pressure and change of temperature are both considered, we have therefore

volume = $15 \times \frac{800}{760} \times \frac{273}{293} = 14.71$ litres.

To arrive at the weight of copper necessary to produce this volume of nitric oxide the equation 2 volumes

 $3 \text{ Cu} + 8 \text{ HNO}_3 = 3 \text{ Cu}(\text{NO}_8)_2 + 4 \text{ H}_2\text{O} + 2 \text{ NO}_3 \times 63.5$ 190.5

2 × 22.4

is used, and shows that to provide $2 \times 22.4 = 44.8$ litres of nitric oxide 190.5 grammes of copper are required; therefore to produce 14.71 litres of nitric oxide

 $190.5 \times \frac{14.71}{44.8} = 62.52$ grammes of copper are required.

Problem. — What volume of nitrogen, measured at 20° C. and 750 mm., would be obtained by the action of ammonia on 300 c.c. (cubic centimetres) of chlorine measured at 15° C. and 735 mm.?

This corresponds to a possible change of temperature and pressure in a laboratory from one time of measuring a gas to another. A cubic centimetre is $\frac{1}{1000}$ of a litre, but as we are dealing with volumes merely, the problem is to be worked out in the same

an p: th an un at

tł

th

I

 \mathcal{V}

55

way as though we were dealing with litres, but the answer obtained is in cubic centimetres, not in litres.

The equation to represent the reaction is

 3×22.4 $8 \text{ NH}_3 + 3 \text{ Cl}_2 = 6 \text{ NH}_4 \text{Cl} + \text{N}_2$ and shows that *three times* 22.4 litres of chlorine yield 22.4 litres of nitrogen at the normal temperature and pressure; or *three times* 22.4 c.c. of chlorine will yield 22.4 c.c. of nitrogen; or, in general, the volume of the chlorine is *three times* that of the nitrogen produced by it.

Therefore 300 c.c. of chlorine will yield $\frac{300}{3}$ = 100 c.c. of nitrogen if the two are measured at the *same* temperature and pressure, since all gases are *equally* affected by changes in temperature and pressure, and the same relationship that holds at the normal temperature and pressure will hold at any other. We have then to determine what volume will be occupied by a quantity of nitrogen at 20° C. and 750 mm. if its volume is 100 c.c. at 15° C. and 735 mm.

 $V = 100 \quad T = 273 + 15 = 288^{\circ} \quad T_1 = 273 + 20 = 293^{\circ}$ $P = 735 \qquad P_1 = 750$ therefore $V_1 = 100 \times \frac{293}{288} \times \frac{735}{750} = 99.77$ c.c.

are

y to ation olumes 22.4 NO

44.8 r are nitric

are

ured the tres)

temtime netre imes ame 56

The increase in pressure is nearly counterbalanced by the rise in temperature.

Problem.—What *weight* of ammonia would be required in the last problem?

Here we must remember that equations, as we have learned to look upon them, show the relationship between *grammes* and *litres* at 0° C. and 760 mm.

 $8 \text{ NH}_3 + 3 \text{ Cl}_2 = 6 \text{ NH}_4 \text{Cl} + \text{N}_2$ 8 (14 + 3) grammes 136

shows that 136 grammes of ammonia are required to produce 22.4 litres of nitrogen at 0° C. and 760 mm. But since a cubic centimetre is $\frac{1}{1000}$ of a litre, $\frac{136}{1000}$ gramme or 0.136 gramme or 136 milligrammes of ammonia would be required to produce 22.4 c.c. of nitrogen measured at 0° C. and 760 mm. But the problem asks how much ammonia is required to produce 100 c.c. of nitrogen measured at 15° C. and 735 mm.; therefore we must find out what this volume will become at 0° C. and 760 mm.

It will evidently be less because the temperature is less; and less also because the pressure is greater.

pe

n

is

g

sł

II

57

We have therefore

volume = $100 \times \frac{273}{288} \times \frac{735}{760} = 91.68$ c.c.

Our problem is ultimately reduced to the question: What weight of ammonia is required to produce 91.68 c.c. of nitrogen when 136 mg. of ammonia produce 22.4 c.c. of nitrogen?

The answer is evidently

 $136 \times \frac{91.68}{22.4} = 556.5$ mg. = 0.5565 gramme.

Problem. — At what temperature is the oxygen measured if 10 litres of it, at a pressure of 740 mm., is sufficient for the complete combustion of 10 grammes of phosphorus?

The equation

$$P_{4} + 5 O_{2} = 2 P_{2}O_{5}$$

shows that 124 grammes of phosphorus require 112 litres of oxygen at 0° C. and 760 mm.

Therefore 10 grammes of phosphorus require

 $112 \times \frac{10}{124} = 9.04$ litres.

The question resolves itself into: At what temperature will 9.04 litres of oxygen (measured at

ced

be

we relaand

s

d to mm. <u>136</u> 1000 s of c.c. But uired at out mm. ture ater. 58

the normal temperature and pressure) expand to 10 litres, its pressure being reduced to 740 mm.?

Since the volume is to increase, the temperature should on that account be higher, but since the *pressure*. is to be lessened, so high a temperature would not be required as would otherwise be the case.

The fraction giving the volume factor is therefore greater than unity, and the fraction giving the pressure factor is less than unity; therefore

$$T_1 = 273 \times \frac{10}{9.04} \times \frac{740}{760} = 294.5 = 21^{\circ}.5 \text{ C}.$$

It is evident that questions involving the use of two or three equations may arise in calculations of volumes as well as in calculations of weights, but they introduce no new principles and need not be further discussed.

EXAMPLES

1. 250 c.c. of oxygen at 10° C. and 756 mm. Find the volume at 0° C. and 760 mm. (Mason Science Coll., 1887.) Ańs. 240 c.c.

2. Find the amount in grammes of 2500 c.c. of sulphur dioxide measured at 20° and 760 mm. (Mason Coll., 1887.)
Ans. 6.65 grammes.

pl Ju at 10 fes

mr fro sio in

stro the beh at 2 esca I 8 will tion S

nd to m.? cature e the cature e the

there-

use of ons of ts, but tot be

nd the 1887.) 40 c.c. ulphur Coll., immes. 3. Calculate the weight of 100 litres of hydrogen sulphide measured at 27°C. and 740 mm. (Lond. Matric., June, 1892.) Ans. 134.6 grammes.

4. What volume of sulphuretted hydrogen, measured at 0° C. and 760 mm. pressure, can be obtained from 10 grammes of ferrous sulphide? (Edin. Univ., 1st Professional Med., 1871.) Ans. 2.55 litres.

5. What volume, in litres, of oxygen, measured at 740 mm. pressure and 27° C. temperature, can be obtained from 54 grammes of mercuric oxide? (Edin., 1st Professional, 1871.) Ans. 3.16 litres.

6. State the relations of volume in the gases involved in the following equations:

 $C + 4 N_2 + O_2 = 4 N_2 + CO_2$ $C + 4 N_2 + CO_2 = 4 N_2 + 2 CO$

(Columbia Univ., 1895, 1st year, 2d term.)

7. A piece of pure marble, weighing 20 grammes, is strongly ignited in a large porcelain crucible. Required the name and weight of the compound which remains behind, and the name and volume in cubic centimetres at 20° C. and 740 mm. mercurial pressure of the gas which escapes. (Princeton Univ., 1896.)

Lime = 11.2 grammes; carbon dioxide = 4938 c.c.

8. What volume of oxygen, when burned with hydrogen, will yield 40 litres of water vapour under the initial conditions of temperature and pressure? Ans. 20 litres. Solve by inspection. (Cornell Univ., September, 1897.)
9. What volume of olefiant gas would be equal in weight to 10 litres of marsh gas? (Lond. Matric., January, 1889.) Ans. $5\frac{5}{7}$ litres.

10. How many cubic centimetres of hydrogen can 9.2 grammes of sodium liberate from water, the barometer standing at 710 mm. and the thermometer at 12° C.? (Edin. Univ., 1st Professional, 1889.)

Ans. 5.00 litres = 5000 c.c.

pr

of

hy

gr

18

75

of sig

11. How many litres of nitrous oxide, measured at 700 mm. pressure and 15° C. temperature, can be obtained by the decomposition of 100 grammes of ammonium nitrate? (Edin. Univ., 1st Professional, 1871.) Ans. 32.07 litres.

12. How many cubic centimetres of hydrogen, measured at 20° C. and 750 mm., will be obtained by dissolving 3.25 grammes of pure zinc in an acid? (Mason Coll., 1882.) Ans. 1.216 litres = 1216 c.c.

13. Calculate the volume of vapour measured at 100° C. that would be given by 5 c.c. of bromine, the specific gravity of the liquid being 2.96. (Mason Coll., 1886.)

Weight of bromine = $5 \times 2.96 = 14.8$ grammes; therefore, volume required = 2.83 litres.

14. What weight of ammonium nitrate must be decomposed under a barometric pressure of 740 mm. at 20° C. to generate sufficient nitrous oxide to fill a balloon holding 200 litres? (Cornell Univ., June, 1896.) Ans. 648 grammes.

15. What volume of carbon dioxide will result from the

WEIGHT AND VOLUME

veight 889.) litres.

n 9.2 meter

2° C.?

00 C.C.

at 700 ned by

itrate?

7 litres.

easured solving Coll., 16 c.c. 100° C.

specific 886.)

б;

decomo° C. to ing 200 ammes.

rom the

combustion of 20 litres of carbon monoxide? (Solve without using combining weights.) (Cornell Univ., March, 1898.) Ans: 20 litres.

16. Explain why 28.88 multiplied by the density of a gas gives its molecular weight. (Cornell Univ., 1898.)

Molecular weight is what we have called formula weight.

- 17. (a) Find the molecular weight of the gas whose density is 1.524.
 - (b) Find the density of the gas whose molecular formula is C_2H_4 .
 - (c) A litre of nitrous oxide weighs 1.97 grammes; find its molecular weight. (Cornell Univ., 1898.)
 - (a) Density is compared to air, therefore the formula weight = $28.8 \times 1.524 = 43.9$.

(b)
$$\frac{28}{28.8} = 0.973.$$

(c) $1.97 \times 22.4 = 44.1.$

18. What volume of chlorine at normal temperature and pressure would be required (a) to combine with 10 litres of olefiant gas; (b) to decompose 10 litres of sulphuretted hydrogen liberating the sulphur; (c) to decompose 10 grammes of potassium iodide? (London Matric., June, 1889.) (a) 10 litres; (b) 10 litres; (c) 0.675 litre.

19. How many litres of oxygen, measured at 15° C. and 750 mm. pressure, are required for the complete combustion of 100 grammes of marsh gas? (Edin. Univ., 1st Professional, 1890.) Ans. 299.3 litres. 20. What volume in litres, of oxygen measured at 730 mm. and 10° C., can be obtained from 1 kilogramme of pyrolusite, containing 80% of peroxide of manganese? (Edin. Univ., 1st Pro²essional, 1873.) Ans. 74.1 litres.

21. What volume of sulphurous acid gas, measured at 740 mm. pressure and 15° C. temperature, can be obtained by burning 10 grammes of sulphur? (Edin. Univ., 1872.) Ans. 7.57 litres.

- 22. (a) Find the density of the gas whose molecular formula is C_2N_2 .
 - (b) Find the weight of a litre of hydrochloric acid.

U

F

a

g

a

a

a

h

w

pe cł

hy

 (c) I litre of a gas weighs 1.25 grammes under standard conditions; find its molecular weight. (Cornell Univ., September, 1896.)

Ans. (a) 1.807; (b) 1.629 grammes; (c) 27.9.

23. How many litres of dry atmospheric air at 740 mm. pressure and 15° C. temperature are required to burn completely 1 litre of olefiant gas at the same temperature and pressure, and what is the weight of carbonic anhydride and of water produced? (Edin. Univ., 1870.)

Take air as containing 21% of oxygen. Ans. $14\frac{2}{7}$ litres air. Weight of carbonic anhydride

 $88 \times \frac{1}{22.4} \times \frac{740}{760} \times \frac{273}{288} = 3.63$ grammes.

Weight of water

= 1.486 grammes.

24. What volume of air at 15° C. and 750 mm. would be required to burn 10 litres of marsh gas measured at the normal temperature and pressure? (Assume air contains 20.5% of oxygen.) (Mason Coll., 1885.) Ans. 104.1 litres.

WEIGHT AND VOLUME

25. 50 c.c. of marsh gas are mixed with 600 c.c. of air and exploded. What will be the composition and volume of the residual gas, the measurements being made throughout at normal temperature and pressure? (The Yorkshire Coll., 1896.) Ans. 476 c.c. nitrogen; 24 c.c. oxygen; 50 c.c. carbon dioxide.

26. What volume will 9 grammes of water occupy measured in the form of vapour at 273° C. and under 380 mm. pressure? (Aberdeen Univ., Sci. and Med., 1897.)

Ans. 44.8 litres.

27. What volume of gaseous ammonia, measured at 15° C. and under 380 mm. pressure, may be obtained from 20 grammes of ammonium chloride? (Aberdeen Univ., Sci. and Med., 1898.) Ans. 17.66 litres.

28. Calculate the weight of 10 litres of air, measured at 0° C. and 760 mm. pressure, containing 21% of oxygen and 79% of nitrogen. (Lond. Matric., June, 1888.)

 $\frac{21}{100} \times 32 + \frac{79}{100} \times 28 = 28.84$ grammes in 22.4 litres.

 $\frac{10}{22.4}$ × 28.84 = 12.88 grammes. Ans.

29. If hydrogen were passed over 100 grammes of heated copper oxide as long as action took place, what would be the quantities of the resulting substances, and what volume of the gas measured at the standard temperature and pressure would be needed to complete the change? (London Matric., June, 1893.)

Ans. Copper = 79.9 grammes; water = 22.65 grammes; hydrogen = 28.2 litres.

730 me of nese? litres. red at cained 72.) litres. ecular

acid. under veight.

27.9. o mm. comre and le and

res air.

would at the ontains litres.

30. A cubic metre of steam measured at 110° C., and under standard pressure, is condensed to water at 4° C.; what would be the bulk of the water, and what volume of hydrogen (at 0° C. and 760 mm.) would afford such a quantity of water when burned? (London Matric., January, 1894.) I c.c. of water at 4° C. = I gramme.

Ans. 573 c.c. water; 713 litres hydrogen.

31. 17 grammes of a mixture of potassium chlorate and manganese dioxide gave 3 litres of oxygen at 20° C. and 760 mm.; calculate the percentage of potassium chlorate in the mixture. (The Yorkshire Coll., 1896.)

Ans. 60%.

32. What volume of air at 15° C. and 740 mm. would be necessary for the combustion of 10 grammes of cyanogen gas? (The Yorkshire Coll., 1895.) Assume air to contain 20.5% oxygen. Ans. 45.5 litres.

33. A spark is passed through a mixture of 750 c.c. of hydrogen and 250 c.c. of oxygen, both at the temperature of 100°C. What will be the resulting volume measured at 100°C.? (The Yorkshire Coll., 1390.)

Ans. 750 c.c. consisting of 500 c.c. water vapour and 250 c.c. hydrogen.

34. What would be the weight of hydrogen obtained from 7 grammes of oil of vitriol containing 98.2% of sulphuric acid? What volume would it occupy at 19° C. and 744 mm.? (Queen's Coll., Galway, 1897.)

Ans. 0.1402 gramme; 1.71 litres.

WEIGHT AND VOLUME

65

35. 0.2 gramme of iron wire by solution in acid gave 83.7 c.c. of hydrogen at 12°C. and 750 mm. What percentage of pure iron is contained in the sample? (Mason Coll., 1882.) Ans. 98.9%.

36. A blue flame is often seen at the top of a coke or charcoal fire. To what substance is it due and how is the flame formed? Suppose that the coke used contained 90%of carbon and it was entirely converted into this substance, how much coke would be needed to make 10,000 litres measured at 15°C. and 750 mm.? (London Matric., 1896.) *Ans.* 5570 grammes.

37. 50 grammes of crystallized oxalic acid $(H_2C_2O_4, 2H_2O)$ are decomposed by heating with strong sulphuric acid. What is the composition of the gas evolved, and what volume (in c.c.) will it occupy if measured at 15°C. and 748 mm.? (Mason Coll., 1882.)

Ans. Equal volume of carbon monoxide and carbon dioxide. Total volume = 91,030 c.c.

38. What volume of gas measured at standard temperature and pressure would be evolved by the action of concentrated sulphuric acid: (a) on 10 grammes of oxalic, (b) on 10 grammes of formic acid, both anhydrous? (Aberdeen Univ., 1891.) Anhydrous oxalic acid has the formula $C_2H_2O_4$, and formic acid the formula H_2CO_2 , and the latter decomposes according to the equation

 $H_2CO_2 = H_2O + CO.$

F

Ans. (a) 4.98 litres; (b) 4.86 litres.

and °C.; ne of ch a Jan-

ogen.

lorate

chlo-

60%.

would yanoair to litres. o c.c.

nperaisured

r and

tained of sul-C. and

litres.

39. What volume of nitric oxide gas measured at 0° C. and 760 mm. can be obtained by acting on 1000 grammes of ferrous sulphate (FeSO₄, 7 H₂O) with the necessary quantities of nitric and sulphuric acids? (Edin. Univ., 1889.) The equation is

 $6(\text{FeSO}_4, 7 \text{ H}_2\text{O}) + 2 \text{ HNO}_3 + 3 \text{ H}_2\text{SO}_4$

 $= 3 \operatorname{Fe}_2(SO_4)_3 + 46 \operatorname{H}_2O + 2 \operatorname{NO}$ Ans. 26.86 litres.

40. How many litres of nitric oxide gas measured at 750 mm. and 10° C. can be obtained by treating 100 grammes of ferrous chloride (FeCl₂) with excess of nitric acid? (Edin. Univ., 1871.) Ans. 6.17 litres.

41. A solution of potassium permanganate containing 31.6 grammes per litre was added to 20 c.c. of a solution of hydrogen peroxide acidulated with sulphuric acid till the colour was no longer destroyed. 35.8 c.c. of the permanganate solution were used. What amount of peroxide was present per 100 c.c. of the solution? It was observed that gas was given off. What volume would 100 c.c. of peroxide solution have afforded? (London Univ. B. Sc., 1893.) The equation is

> $2 \text{ KMnO}_4 + 5 \text{ H}_2\text{O}_2 + 3 \text{ H}_2\text{SO}_4$ = K₂SO₄ + 2 MnSO₄ + 8 H₂O + 5 O₂.

The weight of permanganate in 35.8 c.c.

 $=\frac{35.8}{1000} \times 31.6 = 1.133$ grammes.

Weight of peroxide in 20 c.c.

 $= 1.133 \times \frac{170}{316} = 0.608$ gramme.

WEIGHT AND VOLUME

67

Weight of peroxide in 100 c.c.

 $= 0.608 \times 5 = 3.04$ grammes.

Volume of oxygen $=\frac{3.04}{170} \times 112 = 2.005$ litres.

42. 0.02 gramme of a dyad metal when dissolved in hydrochloric acid evolved $8_{3.81}$ c.c of hydrogen measured in the moist state under a pressure of 750 mm. and at 15° C. Calculate the atomic weight of the metal, vapour pressure of water at 15° C. being 12.7 mm. (London Univ., Intermediate Exam. in Science, 1895.) The formula of the chloride is RCl₂, where R stands for metal, since the latter is dyad. The pressure of hydrogen is 750 - 12.7 = 737.3 mm. The volume of hydrogen under standard conditions

$$= 83.81 \times \frac{273}{288} \times \frac{737.3}{760} = 77.39.$$

The problem reduces itself to: If 0.2 gramme of the metal yield 77.39 c.c. of hydrogen, how much will yield 22,400 c.c.? Ans. 58.1, which is the atomic weight.

43. What volume of air would be required for the complete combustion of 100 litres of a gas containing hydrogen 46%, marsh gas 40%, olefiant gas 14% by volume? (London Int. Sci., 1889.)

Ans. Of air containing 20% oxygen, 725 litres.

44. One gramme of a metal A when dissolved in acid liberates 930 c.c. of hydrogen measured at 18° C. and 750 mm.; also 1 gramme of a metal B when dissolved

o° C. nmes quan-889.)

litres. ed at 5 100 nitric litres. aining lution ill the rmanle was 1 that oxide The

68

in nitric acid yields 1.65 grammes of nitrate. From these data calculate the equivalent of each metal. (London Univ. Int. Sci., 1890.) Ans. A 26; B 103.8.

45. What volume of air containing 21% of oxygen measured at 20° C. and 760 mm. will be required to burn completely 10 grammes of pure carbon? (London Univ., Prelim. Sci. Med., January, 1890.) Ans. 95.4 litres.

46. What weight of potassium bichromate would be required to provide enough chlorine to combine with 20 litres of ethylene measured at 20° C. and 770 mm.?

Ans. 82.6 grammes.

47. How much calcium carbide would be required to produce enough acetylene to yield, on combustion, 14 litres of carbon dioxide measured at 15° C. and 740 mm., and what volume of oxygen at the same temperature and pressure would be needed?

Ans. 18.5 grammes calcium carbide; 17.5 litres of oxygen.

48. What volume of oxygen measured at 10° C. and 780 mm. pressure would be required for the complete combustion of the marsh gas obtainable from 20.5 grammes of sodium acetate? Ans. 11.3 litres.

these ondon 103.8. oxygen o burn Univ., litres.

be reo litres

mmes.

red to 4 litres 1., and press-

xygen.

C. and e comammes litres.

CHAPTER VI

CALCULATIONS IN VOLUMETRIC ANALYSIS

IT is not within the scope of this little book to treat at all fully the subject of volumetric analysis, but a few examples may be given to illustrate the principles set forth in the preceding chapters.

In volumetric analysis, solutions are used whose strength is known. In some cases the strength may follow no regular system. These may be called *arbitrary* solutions, or *unsystematic* solutions. For example, a potassium permanganate solution might be made up, somewhat at haphazard, and be found by testing to have such a strength that I c.c. of it will oxidize 0.01324 gramme of iron from the ferrous to the ferric condition; in other words, change the amount of ferrous sulphate, containing that much iron, into ferric sulphate (sufficient sulphuric acid being assumed present).

It will readily be seen that if a gramme of ore is taken, each c.c. of the permanganate used will repre-

70

sent 1.324% of iron (for it is 0.01324 gramme in one gramme).

To simplify calculations, solutions which may be called *even-number* solutions are sometimes used. For example, if a permanganate solution is prepared so that each cubic centimetre equals 0.0100 gramme of iron, then, if I gramme of ore require 31.2 c.c. of this solution, the amount of iron is seen at once to be 31.2%. Even-number solutions are the most convenient ones. so far as saving of calculation goes, in cases where only a single substance is to be determined with the volumetric solution; but where several substances are to be determined with the solution, the latter will be an even-number solution for not more than one of the substances. For instance, a solution of permanganate which would give percentages in I gramme of iron ore, would not give percentages of manganese in I gramme of a manganese ore, or percentages of oxalic acid in an impure oxalate.

When the solution is used for varied purposes, calculations are somewhat simplified by the use of normal solutions, or solutions which bear some simple numerical relation to the latter, such as $\frac{1}{4}$ normal, $\frac{1}{10}$ normal (decinormal), or $\frac{1}{100}$ normal (centinormal).

one 1

ay be For o that iron, solu-1.2%. ones, where h the es are ill be ne of rmanamme angaper-

s, calnorimplé al, $\frac{1}{10}$ This saving in calculation is usually accomplished by taking a weight of the substance for analysis which bears a simple relation to the standard, or formula, weight of the substance sought. For example, if 0.56 gramme of iron ore is taken, each cubic centimetre of a decinormal potassium bichromate solution will correspond to 1% of iron, or, if 0.80 gramme of ore is taken, will correspond to 1% of ferric oxide (Fe_2O_3) .

The statement just made involves a distinct definition of the term "normal," and since the term is used in different senses by different chemists, it is always necessary, in working problems involving the term, to make sure that the definition required by the problem is clearly borne in mind.

According to one definition, the normal solution contains the standard, or molecular, weight in grammes, of the substance in I litre; according to another definition, the normal solution contains the gramme *equivalent* of the substance per litre; while, according to a third definition, the normal solution contains the *hydrogen equivalent in grammes* per litre. According to any of the definitions the standard, or normal, solution of hydrochloric acid

would have a weight of 36.5 grammes of pure hydrochloric acid in the volume of I litre. According to the first definition, normal sulphuric acid solution would have 98 grammes of sulphuric acid (H_2SO_4) in the litre. But 98 grammes of pure sulphuric acid would neutralize twice as much caustic potash as 36.5 grammes of pure hydrochloric acid, so that, if the acid solutions are to be equivalent, the sulphuric acid should contain only 49 grammes of sulphuric acid, which is the normal solution according to the second definition.

The potassium permanganate solution, which has the formula weight KMnO_4 of salt in a litre, is capable of oxidizing *five* times the amount of hydrogen contained in the normal solution of hydrochloric acid, and, according to the third definition, the normal solution would contain $\frac{158}{5}$ grammes ($\frac{1}{5}$ KMnO₄) per litre; that is, has one-fifth the concentration of the normal solution, according to the first definition.

The second and third definitions amount to the same thing in most cases; but since there may be ambiguity, in some instances, as to the signification of "equivalent weight," the term "normal solution" will, in this chapter, be used in the sense of the third definition.

an all bo we

С

C

g

si

SO

ci

SO

73

Problem.—If 1 c.c. of hydrochloric acid neutralizes 0.0106 gramme of sodium carbonate, what weight of silver chloride will be precipitated when 1 c.c. is added to excess of silver nitrate solution? (Yale Scientific School, 1898.)

The equations are

 $Na_2CO_3 + 2 HCl = 2 NaCl + H_2O + CO_2$ $AgNO_3 + HCl = AgCl + HNO_3$

which show that two formula weights of silver chloride correspond to one formula weight of sodium carbonate.

 2×143.5 grammes of silver chloride are precipitated by the acid which is neutralized by 106 grammes of sodium carbonate, or 0.0287 gramme of silver chloride corresponds to 0.0106 gramme of sodium carbonate, and would therefore be precipitated by 1 c.c. of the given hydrochloric acid solution.

Problem. — If I c.c. acid \equiv 1.25 c.c. alkali solution, and if to standardize 50 c.c. acid solution, 10 c.c. alkali solution and 0.25 gramme of sodium carbonate are used; I c.c. alkali is equivalent to what weight of actual hydrochloric acid (HCl)?

ydrong to lution ${}_{2}SO_{4}$) c acid .sh as hat, if phuric phuric to the

ch has s capadrogen chloric ne nor- MnO_4) tion of inition. to the nay be fication lution " e third I c.c. acid \equiv what weight of nitrogen (by Kjeldahl)? (Yale Scientific School, 1898.)

IO c.c. alkali solution $\equiv 8$ c.c. acid, so that 42 c.c. acid solution are neutralized by 0.25 gramme of sodium carbonate, or I c.c. by $\frac{0.25}{42}$ gramme.

By the equation above, 73 grammes of hydrochloric acid neutralize 106 grammes of sodium carbonate, and hence to neutralize $\frac{0.25}{42}$ gramme of sodium carbonate, $73 \times \frac{0.25}{42 \times 106} = 0.004099$ gramme of actual hydrochloric acid is necessary.

n

st st

110

Jus

is m inste requ

half

weigl potas

of po

taken hydro

of hy

By Kjeldahl's method nitrogen is converted into ammonia, and each standard weight of nitrogen, namely 14, corresponds to the standard weight of hydrochloric acid, 36.5.

Therefore, the nitrogen is

$$0.004099 \times \frac{14}{36.5} = 0.001572$$
 gramme.

Problem. — What volume of centinormal acid would be required to neutralize 0.005 gramme of potassium carbonate (K₂CO₃)?

The equation

 $K_2CO_3 + 2 HCl = 2 KCl + H_2O + CO_2$

75

ahl)?

12 c.c. ne of

hydrom carme of gramme

ted into itrogen, eight of

> al acid mme of

CO₂

shows that 138 grammes of potassium carbonate are neutralized by twice the amount of hydrochloric acid contained in a litre of normal strength; and as, according to the definition of *normal* which we adopt, all acids of normal strength are equivalent, 138 grammes of potassium carbonate would be neutralized by 2 litres of any acid of normal strength, or by 200 litres of acid of centinormal strength.

To neutralize 0.005 gramme of carbonate,

 $200 \times \frac{0.005}{138} = 0.007242$ litre = 7.24 c.c.¹

Problem.— How many cubic centimetres of a decinormal permanganate solution would be required to just produce a colour in 100 c.c. of a centinormal

¹ While the above is the *exact* interpretation of the equation, it is more common to express the fact in a slightly different form, and instead of saying that the formula weight of potassium carbonate requires *twice* the formula weight of hydrochloric acid, to say that *half* the formula weight of potassium carbonate requires the formula weight of hydrochloric acid, or that since the formula weight of potassium carbonate contains twice the standard (or atomic) weight of potassium, *half* of its formula (or molecular) weight must be taken to be equivalent to the formula (or molecular) weight of hydrochloric acid which contains the standard (or atomic) weight of hydrogen.

solution of peroxide of hydrogen to which sulphuric acid is added?

The equation

 $2 \text{ KMnO}_4 + 5 \text{ H}_2\text{O}_2 + 3 \text{ H}_2\text{SO}_4$ = $\text{K}_2\text{SO}_4 + 2 \text{ MnSO}_4 + 5 \text{ O}_2 + 8 \text{ H}_2\text{O}$

represents the fact that the oxygen comes equally from the permanganate and from the peroxide, and therefore the normal solutions are equivalent; and, therefore, 10 c.c. of a decinormal permanganate is equal to 100 c.c. of a centinormal peroxide solution.

n

tl

I

qu

or

fo

fo

pe

liti

ca

fer

Problem.—What must be the strength of a ferrous sulphate solution such that 100 c.c. of it will be sufficient just to decolourize 20 c.c. of a permanganate solution containing 15.8 grammes of salt per litre?

 $10 \text{ FeSO}_{4} + 8 \text{ H}_{2}\text{SO}_{4} + 2 \text{ KMnO}_{4}$ $10 \times 152 \qquad 2 \times 158$ $= 5 \text{ Fe}_{2}(\text{SO}_{4})_{3} + \text{ K}_{2}\text{SO}_{4} + 2 \text{ MnSO}_{4} + 8 \text{ H}_{2}\text{O}$

From this equation it is evident that 2×158 grammes of permanganate oxidize 10×152 grammes of ferrous sulphate; and, therefore, if the permanganate could oxidize an equal volume of the ferrous sulphate solution, the latter must contain 5×152

ohuric

 $8 H_2O$

equally de, and at; and, anate is solution. n of a c. of it f a pers of salt

 $8 H_2O$ 2 × 158 grammes permane ferrous 5 × 152 grammes of ferrous sulphate for every 158 grammes of potassium permanganate in the permanganate solution. In the problem we have assumed the ferrous sulphate solution to be only one-fifth as strong, and therefore it must contain 152 grammes of sulphate for every 158 grammes of permanganate, or 15.2 grammes per litre. If we were dealing with crystallized ferrous sulphate (FeSO₄, 7 H₂O), the amount required would be 27.8. It is important to notice this, since the salt is usually weighed out in the crystalline form.

Problem.—What weight of iron is contained in I c.c. of the ferrous sulphate solution in the last question, and what per cent of iron is there in an ore if 13.6 c.c. of the permanganate solution be used for 1.42 grammes of ore?

The iron is $\frac{160}{162}$ of the ferrous sulphate; therefore, since there is 15.2 grammes ferrous sulphate per litre, there would be 5.6 grammes of iron per litre, or 0.0056 gramme per 1 c.c.

The permanganate solution in the given case is capable of oxidizing *five* times its volume of a ferrous sulphate solution containing this quantity of

78

iron; therefore, 13.6 c.c. of permanganate solution would oxidize $13.6 \times 5 = 68$ c.c. of ferrous sulphate, which contains $68 \times 0.0056 = 0.3808$ gramme of iron.

0

0

e

Ι

a So

ma

OX

2 k

of

gra

of

are

1.42 grammes of ore contains 0.3808 gramme of iron, or 26.82%.

Problem.—What weight of ore must be taken so that the number of cubic centimetres of the permanganate solution above will represent the percentage in iron?

I c.c. of the permanganate is equivalent to $0.0056 \times 5 = 0.028$ gramme of iron, and if this is equal to 1%, the total ore must be 2.8 grammes.

Problem.—What must be the strength of a permangate solution if the burette reading in cubic centimetres gives the percentage of iron direct when 0.7 gramme of ore is taken ?

In this case I c.c. of permanganate must correspond to 0.007 gramme of iron, since if the substance were pure iron, 100 c.c. of the permanganate would be necessary for the 0.7 gramme; and since 15.8 grammes of the permanganate correspond to $5.6 \times 5 = 28$ grammes of iron, the permanganate solution required by the problem must contain

ution hate, iron. ne of

en so rmanntage

nt to :his is mes.

a percubic when

correstance would e 15.8 id to ganate iontain $0.7 \times \frac{15.8}{28} = 0.395$ gramme permanganate per 100 c.c., or 3.95 grammes per litre.

Problem. — I c.c. of a permanganate solution is equivalent to (will oxidize) 0.014 gramme of iron; I c.c. is equivalent to what weight of manganese in a hot neutral solution (Volhard's method)? (Yale Scientific School, 1898.)

This reaction goes according to the equation

 $3 \operatorname{MnSO}_{4} + 2 \operatorname{KMnO}_{4} + 2 \operatorname{H}_{2}\operatorname{O}$ $= 5 \operatorname{MnO}_{2} + \operatorname{K}_{2}\operatorname{SO}_{4} + 2 \operatorname{H}_{2}\operatorname{SO}_{4}$

The equation which represents the reaction of permanganate with a ferrous salt shows that 2 KMnO_4 oxidizes 10 Fe; while this equation shows that 2 KMnO_4 oxidizes 3 Mn. Therefore the amount of permanganate which would oxidize $10 \times 56 = 560$ grammes of iron would oxidize $3 \times 55 = 165$ grammes of manganese.

The answer to the problem is therefore $\frac{165}{560} \times 0.014$ = 0.0041 gramme of manganese.

Problem.—If 10 c.c. of a permanganate solution are heated with hydrochloric acid, the liquid evap-

orated with excess of sulphuric acid, the residue taken up with water, neutralized with zinc oxide, and boiled, how many cubic centimetres of the same permanganate solution will be required to precipitate the manganese? (Yale Scientific School, 1899.)

The question gives the details of the Volhard process, and the equation in the last problem shows that there is $\frac{2}{3}$ as much manganese in the permanganate as in the manganese sulphate, and therefore, if a given quantity of permanganate is changed to manganese sulphate, it will require $\frac{2}{3}$ as much permanganate to oxidize it again to the condition of dioxide; hence in this case $6\frac{2}{3}$ c.c.

C

0

а

S

tł

th

q

ir

ne

se

an

by

Problem. — A solution of permanganate containing 6.32 grammes per litre :

(a) What is its strength in terms of Fe_2O_3 ?

(b) What amount of iron ore must be weighed out so that each cubic centimetre used will represent one per cent of iron (Fe)?

(c) What is the strength of this solution against manganese by Volhard's method? (Columbia Univ.)

sidue oxide, the o prechool,

olhard shows ermanrefore, ged to h pertion of

ontain-

³? veighed repre-

against Univ.)

- Ans. (a) 0.0160 gramme of Fe_2O_3 per cubic centimetre.
 - (b) 1.12 grammes.
 - (c) 0.0033 gramme manganese per cubic centimetre.

Problem. — If 0.5 gramme of iron is dissolved, without oxidation, in water containing 5 grammes of sulphuric acid (H_2SO_4) , and the requisite amount of permanganate is run in, what weight of free acid will the solution contain? (Yale Scientific School, 1899.)

By examination of the equations it will be seen that in order to dissolve the iron and to complete the reaction with permanganate, $18 H_2SO_4$ is required for 10 Fe; therefore, for 0.5 gramme of iron $\frac{18 \times 98}{10 \times 56} \times 0.5$ gramme of sulphuric acid are necessary; therefore the free acid is

$$5 - \left(\frac{18 \times 98}{10 \times 5} \times 0.5\right) = 3.425$$
 grammes.

Problem.—Two grammes of ore containing arsenic were treated according to Pearce's method, and the silver in the silver arsenate determined by titration with ammonium sulphocyanate; the

G

82

amount was 27.9 c.c., the strength of solution I c.c. = 0.007 gramme of silver. What was the percentage of arsenic?

Pearce's method consists in obtaining neutral sodium arsenate, precipitating the arsenic acid as silver arsenate, collecting the precipitate and dissolving in nitric acid, and titrating with ammonium sulphocyanate solution.

In the problem given, the silver used was 27.9 \times 0.0007 = 0.1953 gramme, and from the formula of the precipitate Ag₃AsO₄, 3 \times 108 = 324 parts of silver correspond to 75 parts of arsenic, therefore the arsenic = 0.1953 $\times \frac{75}{324}$ = 0.0452 gramme in 2 grammes of ore; that is, 2.26%.

Problem. — How much crystallized sodium thiosulphate ($Na_2S_2O_3$, 5 H₂O) must be dissolved in water and diluted to 1 litre to give a solution whose strength is 1 c.c.=0.015 gramme of copper?

 $2 Cu(NO_3)_2 + 4 KI = Cu_2I_2 + I_2 + 4 KNO_3$

 $I_2 + 2 Na_2S_2O_3 = Na_2S_4O_6 + 2 NaI$

that is, one standard weight of copper 63.5 corresponds to one formula weight of thiosulphate () 0 n

ti I o ti cl

10

gı io io cr gı

de so so (C

tion the

l sol as disnium

27.9 mula parts heremme

thiod in vhose

NO₃

correphate (Na₂S₂O₃, 5 H₂O) 248; therefore, 0.015 $\times \frac{248}{63.5} =$ 0.05859 gramme of thiosulphate per cubic centimetre, or 58.59 grammes per litre.

Problem. — What weight of crystallized sodium thiosulphate will make 1000 c.c. of a solution, 1 c.c. of which will be equivalent to 0.0008 gramme of oxygen (available), by Bunsen's method of distilling a higher oxide of manganese with hydrochloric acid and collecting the chlorine in potassium iodide solution? (Yale Scientific School, 1898.)

0.0008 gramme of oxygen corresponds to 0.00355 gramme of chlorine, and this to 0.0127 gramme of iodine, and by the equation above 0.0127 gramme iodine corresponds to 0.0248 gramme of thiosulphate crystals; therefore, 1000 c.c. should contain 24.8 grammes of sodium thiosulphate crystals.

Problem. — We have a rich copper matte and decide to take 0.5 gramme for analysis. How much sodium thiosulphate $(Na_2S_2O_3)$ per litre will give a solution such that I c.c. will equal 2% of copper? (Columbia Univ.)

From the equations above, 63.5 grammes of cop-







per require 158 grammes of thiosulphate; hence 0.5 gramme of copper would require $\frac{158}{63.5} \times 0.5 = 1.2442$ grammes of thiosulphate, which must be contained in 50 c.c., since if the ore were pure copper, 50 c.c. of the thiosulphate solution must be added, according to the conditions of the problem.

There must therefore be $1.2442 \times 20 = 24.884$ grammes per litre.

Problem. — I c.c. of a potassium bichromate solution contains x grammes of the pure salt. I c.c. will liberate what weight of iodine from an acid solution of potassium iodide? I c.c. will be equivalent to what weight of iron?

The equation

84

 $K_2Cr_2O_7 + 6KI + 14HCl$

 $= 8 \text{ KCl} + 2 \text{ CrCl}_3 + 3 \text{ I}_2 + 7 \text{ H}_2\text{O}$

shows that 294 grammes of bichromate yield 762 grammes of iodine; hence $\frac{762}{294}x$ is the weight of iodine.

A consideration of the equation will show that there are $16 \times 3 = 48$ grammes of oxygen useful for oxidizing purposes in 294 grammes of bichro-

mate; or, as is usually said, there is 3 O (available) which will oxidize 6 Fe from ferrous to ferric condition; hence the weight of iron is $\frac{6 \times 56}{294}x$.

Problem. — Suppose I c.c. of permanganate solution is equivalent to 0.028 gramme of iron. What will be the strength of the oxalic acid solution, such that it will just decolourize an equal volume of the permanganate?

Since 158 grammes of permanganate oxidizes $56 \times 5 = 280$ grammes of iron, the solution of permanganate in the example must contain 15.8 grammes per litre.

But from the equation

 $2 \text{ KMnO}_4 + 5 (\text{COOH})_2 + 3 \text{ H}_2\text{SO}_4$ = K₂SO₄ + 2 MnSO₄ + 10 CO₂ + 8 H₂O

it is evident 2×158 grammes of permanganate oxidize 5×90 grammes of oxalic acid. Therefore, the solution of oxalic acid to be equivalent to the permanganate must contain $\frac{5}{2} \times 9 = 22.5$ grammes oxalic acid per litre.

Problem. — Compare the phosphorus standard with the iron standard for potassium permanganate.

22 0.5 .2442 ained D c.c.

4.884

soluc.c. acid uiva-

H₂O

762 ht of

that seful chro-

When phosphorus is precipitated as yellow ammonium phospho-molybdate, the ratio is one standard weight of phosphorus (P) to 12 standard weights of molybdic acid (MoO₃), and the weight of the phosphorus is $\frac{3}{1728}$ that of the molybdic acid.

The molybdic acid is then reduced to the compound represented by the formula Mo_2O_3 , which is oxidized by permanganate according to the equation

 $5 \text{ Mo}_2\text{O}_8 + 6 \text{ KMnO}_4 + 9 \text{ H}_2\text{SO}_4$

= $10 \text{ MoO}_3 + 3 \text{ K}_2 \text{SO}_4 + 6 \text{ MnSO}_4 + 9 \text{ H}_2 \text{O}$

so that 6 KMnO_4 corresponds to 10 MoO_8 .

But we saw that 6 KMnO_4 corresponds to 30 Fe, so that MoO₃ corresponds to 3 Fe, or 144 grammes of molybdic acid correspond to 168 grammes of iron.

But 31 grammes of phosphorus correspond to 1728 grammes of molybdic acid; therefore to 1728 $\times \frac{168}{144}$ grammes of iron.

Therefore,

86

phosphorus standard : iron standard = $3I : I728 \times \frac{168}{144} = 0.01538 : I,$

which means that, in the titration for phosphorus, I c.c. of permanganate solution represents a much smaller amount of phosphorus than it would of iron, in an iron estimation.

t

I_2O

30 Fe, immes f iron. nd to 1728

horus, much f iron, **Problem.** — If a sample of iron contains 97% pure iron, and if it requires as much of the given permanganate solution in the phosphorus estimation as in the iron estimation, what is the percentage of phosphorus? $\frac{31 \times 97 \times 144}{168 \times 1728} = 1.492\%.$ Ans.

Problem. — What weight of substance must be

(a) so that I c.c. of the decinormal acid will be equivalent to 1% of nitrogen by Kjeldahl?

weighed out for analysis:

(b) so that 1 c.c. of the same acid will represent 1% of sodium carbonate (Na₂CO₃)?

(c) 1% of sodium oxide (Na₂O). (Yale Scientific School, 1898.)

(a) 0.14 gramme; (b) 0.53 gramme;
(c) 0.31 gramme.

Problem. — A quantity of caustic potash solution requires 32 c.c. of normal acid solution to neutralize it. What is the weight of potassium hydrate (KOH) in the solution ? Ans. 1.792 grammes.

Problem. -5.3 grammes of moist sodium carbonate require 90 c.c. of a normal solution of acid to neutralize it. What is the percentage of water?

Ans. 10%.

88

Problem. — If a solution of silver nitrate contains 17 mg. of salt per cubic centimetre, how many cubic centimetres of a centinormal potassium chloride solution would be needed to precipitate the silver contained in 9.64 c.c. of the silver nitrate solution?

17 mg. per cubic centimetre is the same as 17 grammes per litre; therefore the silver solution is decinormal, and will therefore require 10 times its volume of the centinormal potassium chloride solution, or 96.4 c.c. tains cubic soluconn? as 17 ion is times hloride

CHAPTER VII

CALCULATION OF FORMULÆ

THE organic chemist very frequently meets the problem of determining what formula to give a substance with which he is dealing. In order to do this, he must, after determining what the constituents of the substance are, find out the relative quantities of these constituents. This really amounts to finding the percentage composition of the substance, and though it is not actually necessary to calculate out the percentage composition, this is usually done, and the chemist sets down the figures representing the percentage composition, and gives the formula that he calculates from these figures.

The constituent elements of the substance are not, in general, separated and weighed, but they are converted into compounds whose composition is already known. For instance, it is not feasible to separate the carbon from alcohol and determine its amount in that way, but it is very easy to burn the alcohol

90

in such a manner that all the carbon dioxide produced may be collected and weighed. In the same way, hydrogen is weighed as water, chlorine is converted into silver chloride, and sulphur into barium sulphate. When we know the amount of each of these substances produced, there is no difficulty in calculating the amount of the element which we are considering.

Carbon, for instance, is $\frac{12}{44}$ the weight of the carbon dioxide produced by its combustion, hydrogen is $\frac{2}{18}$ the weight of the water, chlorine is $\frac{35.5}{143.5}$ the weight of the silver chloride obtained, and sulphur $\frac{32}{233}$ the weight of the barium sulphate.

Example. — When 1.124 grammes of chloroform are burned, 0.4139 gramme of carbon dioxide and 0.0846 gramme of water are obtained. If the same quantity is treated in the proper way, it yields 4.050 grammes of silver chloride. These are all of the results obtained by actual analysis; it remains for us to see how the formula of chloroform may be deduced from these data.

We know that when 12 grammes of carbon are burned, 44 grammes of carbon dioxide are obtained, r h th gr

Al of rin am is t V which as n we r of c.

CALCULATION OF FORMULÆ

91

and therefore that the amount of carbon is $\frac{12}{44}$ of the amount of carbon dioxide produced by its combustion. The amount of carbon in 1.124 grammes of chloroform must therefore be

$0.4139 \times \frac{12}{44} = 0.1127$ gramme.

In the same manner, 2 grammes of hydrogen yield 18 grammes of water, and therefore the amount of hydrogen is $\frac{2}{18}$ of the amount of water produced by the combustion. The amount of hydrogen in 1.124 grammes of chloroform is therefore

 $0.0846 \times \frac{2}{18} = 0.0094$ gramme.

Also 35.5 grammes of chlorine gives 143.5 grammes of silver chloride, and therefore the amount of chlorine is $\frac{35.5}{143.5}$ of the amount of silver chloride. The amount of chlorine in 1.124 grammes of chloroform is therefore $4.050 \times \frac{35.5}{143.5} = 1.002$ grammes.

We know that every standard quantity of carbon, which we represent by the symbol C, weighs 12 times as much as the standard quantity of hydrogen, which we represent by the symbol H; so that if the weight of carbon actually found is divided by 12, and the

prosame s conarium ach of alty in we are

he car. drogen 5.5 the 43.5sulphur

oroform ide and ne same ls 4.050 of the ains for may be

> bon are btained,

weight of the hydrogen by unity, and the quotient is the same, we know that there are just as many standard quantities of carbon as of hydrogen. If the quotient obtained by dividing the weight of carbon by 12 is one-half as great as that obtained by dividing the weight of hydrogen by unity, we know that there are half as many standard quantities of carbon as of hydrogen. If the quotient is twice as great in the first case as in the second, we know that there are twice as many standard quantities of carbon as of hydrogen.

S

tł

fo

th

su

fo

is

is tal

wh der

is (

for

In the same way, if the amount of chlorine is divided by 35.5, the quotient obtained will show how many standard quantities of chlorine, represented by the symbol Cl, there are for every standard quantity of carbon or of hydrogen.

In the case of the numbers we have found for chloroform, we observe that

 $\frac{0.1127}{12} = 0.0094 = 0.0094 \times I$ $\frac{0.0094}{I} = 0.0094 = 0.0094 \times I$ $\frac{1.002}{35.5} = 0.0282 = 0.0094 \times 3$
93

ntient many f. If of cared by know ties of vice as know ities of

orine is ow how nted by quantity

und for

which gives the ratio of the standard quantities of carbon, hydrogen, and chlorine. The formula for chloroform is therefore $CHCl_8$, or some multiple of it such as $C_2H_2Cl_6$, $C_8H_8Cl_6$, etc.

Simple analysis of the substance does not decide between these formulæ, for all that the analysis proves is that for every standard quantity of carbon there is *one* standard quantity of hydrogen and *three* standard quantities of chlorine.

The formula which expresses in the simplest form the composition of a substance is called its *empirical* formula, and this may or may not be the formula that best represents the *standard* quantity of the substance, which is ordinarily called the *molecular* formula.

When a substance is volatile, its vapour density is of very great importance in deciding what formula is best to apply to it. Other considerations are taken into account, but this is the only one with which we are immediately concerned. The vapour density of chloroform shows that its correct formula is CHCl_a, and not a multiple.

When the same quantity of a substance is used for all determinations, we have seen that the

94

empirical formula may be arrived at by dividing the quantity of each element by the standard weight of that element, the quotients obtained showing the relative number of these standard weights. In fact, it is not necessary to calculate how much of each element is present, for we arrive at the same result if we divide the amount of carbon dioxide actually obtained by 44 as if we first find out how much carbon that corresponds to and divide it by 12. So also we may divide the weight of water by 9, since $\frac{1}{9}$ of the water is hydrogen; and in the same way we may divide the amount of silver chloride by 143.5.

a

0

But though carbon and hydrogen are always estimated together, chlorine, sulphur, and nitrogen are always estimated in separate experiments, and usually with different amounts of substance. I.I24 grammes of chloroform are far too much to take for an estimation of chlorine, since 4.050 grammes of silver chloride are an inconveniently large amount to deal with.

But though different amounts of substance are taken for different determinations, it is easy to calculate from the data obtained how much of each element is contained in *one* gramme of the sub-

stance, or in 100 grammes; in other words, to find the *percentage* composition. The results of analysis are therefore usually worked up into percentages and put down in that form.

.Example. — 0.353 gramme of ethyl sulphide by combustion gave 0.692 gramme of carbon dioxide and 0.353 gramme of water. Also, 0.241 gramme of sulphide gave 0.642 gramme of barium sulphate. It is required to calculate the formula. We have Weight of carbon dioxide for 1 gramme

= $0.692 \times \frac{1000}{353}$ = 1.959 grammes. Weight of water for 1 gramme

= $0.353 \times \frac{1000}{353} = 1.000$ gramme. Weight of barium sulphate for I gramme = $0.624 \times \frac{1000}{241} = 2.583$ grammes. Weight of carbon for I gramme

 $1.959 \times \frac{12}{44} = 0.5342 = 53.42\%$ Weight of hydrogen for 1 gramme

 $1.000 \times \frac{2}{18} = 0.1111 = 11.11\%$

Weight of sulphur for 1 gramme

 $2.583 \times \frac{32}{233} = 0.3554 = \frac{35.54\%}{100.07}$

ding eight g the fact. each result tually h caro also ince 🖁 ay we 143.5. ays esen are d usu-1.124 ke for mes of imount

> ce are to calf each e sub-

That the percentages add up to 100.07 instead of exactly 100 shows a slight error either in the estimation of the constituents or in the calculations.

To get the formula we have

Ratio $\frac{53.42}{12} = 4.45 = 1.11 \times 4 \quad C$ $\frac{11.11}{1} = 11.11 = 1.11 \times 10 \quad H$ $\frac{35.54}{32} = 1.11 = 1.11 \times 1 \quad S$

0

a

g

Therefore the formula is $C_4H_{10}S$ or some multiple. As a matter of fact, the way in which the substance is produced indicates that the above is the correct formula.

As has been stated, it is not absolutely necessary to *calculate* the percentage of each constituent in the substance, though the data must always be such that the calculation is possible. This may be shown by an example, and we shall choose one in which a nitrogen determination is involved.

When the volume (at a certain temperature and pressure) of nitrogen obtained from a quantity of substance is given, it is easy to calculate its weight

97

and therefore the weight which would be obtained from I gramme of the substance; and the remainder of the calculation is similar to the preceding.

Example. — It is required to calculate the formula of ethylamine from the following data:

I. 0.263 gramme of substance gives 0.515 gramme of carbon dioxide and 0.363 gramme of water.

II. 0.328 gramme produces 109.7 c.c. of nitrogen at 15° C. and 750 mm.

The weight of carbon dioxide produced by I gramme is

 $0.515 \times \frac{1000}{263} = 1.955.$

The weight of water produced by I gramme is

 $0.363 \times \frac{1000}{263} = 1.380.$

The weight of nitrogen produced by I gramme is

 $\frac{109.7}{22400} \times 28 \times \frac{273}{288} \times \frac{750}{760} \times \frac{1000}{328} = 0.311 \text{ gramme.}$

Ratio	
$\frac{1.955}{44} = 0.0445 = 0.022 \times 2$	С
$\frac{1.380}{9} = 0.153 = 0.022 \times 7$	Н
$\frac{0.311}{14} = 0.022 = 0.022 \times 1$	N

н

stead n the tions.

ultiple. stance correct

essary ent in e such shown which

e and tity of veight

Therefore the formula is C_2H_7N .

The results obtained in actual practice are not so exact as the figures given above. The estimation of carbon is usually too low, and the estimation of hydrogen too high. The formula is chosen which most nearly represents the results of experiment and suits the chemical character of the substance. Then the percentages of the elements are put down as calculated from this formula and side by side, for comparison,¹ the percentages actually obtained.

Example. — I. 0.1520 gramme of a substance gave 0.3352 gramme of carbon dioxide and 0.0708 gramme of water.

II. 0.2071 gramme of the substance gave 64.5 c.c. of nitrogen at $23^{\circ}.5$ C. and 774.5 mm.

	Calculated from	
	formula C8H8N4	Found
С	60	60.16
н	5	5.18
Ν	35	35.60
	100	100.94

So that the formula was probably $C_8H_8N_4$, though the analysis was not very satisfactory. The followcas up bec dire S cen with

0

m

b

99

ing results are more satisfactory. An analysis of parabromphenyl hydrazin gave these data:

I. 0.234 gramme of substance gave 0.328 gramme of carbon dioxide and 0.082 gramme of water.

II. 0.132 gramme gave 17.5 c.c. of nitrogen measured at 17°C. and 742 mm.

III. 0.1435 gramme gave 0.1435 gramme of silver bromide.

	Calculated from formula	
	C ₆ H ₇ N ₂ Br	Found
С	38.50	38.28
Н	3.71	3.93
Ν	14.97	14.94
Br	42.72	42.56
	100.00	99.71

These results are better than those in the last case, not only because the percentages found add up to a number more nearly equal to 100, but because the error in each determination is in the direction which is to be naturally expected.

Sometimes two formulæ are given, and the percentages calculated from them are put side by side with those actually obtained by experiment.

in not timaation which iment cance. down side,

stance p.0708

ined.

64.5

nough ollow**Example.** — I. 0.1541 gramme of a substance gave 0.4426 gramme of carbon dioxide and 0.1128 gramme of water.

II. 0.1097 gramme gave 0.3164 gramme of carbon dioxide and 0.0824 gramme of water.

III. 0.3014 gramme gave 36.1 c.c. of nitrogen at 21° C. and 743.5 mm.

t e w

01

gi

er

ca

pe

fo

	Calculated	for formula			
	C7H9N	C ₆ H ₇ N	I	11	III
С	78.50	77.42	78.22	78.58	
Н	8.41	7.53	8.13	8.35	
Ν	13.09	15.0б			13.0

Here the first formula is the better one, as is especially seen in the nitrogen determination.

It must always be borne in mind that the results of analysis do not decide between a formula and any multiple of that formula. This matter can be decided only by other considerations, and among these the vapour density (for any substance that will volatilize) is a very important one.

Somewhat similar calculations are made for inorganic substances. In these cases it is sometimes required to calculate the standard (or atomic) weight

stance .

arbon

trogen

III

13.0

as is

results nd any be de-; these l vola-

r inorletimes weight of a metal as well as the formula of the compound. An important point in such determination is the *specific heat* of the element, which, multiplied by the standard weight, gives a product approximately equal to *six*. The vapour density of compounds also is of importance in this connection.

Problems are sometimes set in the calculation of the formulæ of minerals, in which the percentage of each element is given. These problems may be worked in exactly the same way as when the formula of an organic compound is required.

In minerals, however, the constituents vary largely, one metal being replaced in part by another which gives isomorphous compounds. In the case of minerals containing oxygen, such as carbonates and silicates, the metal is usually estimated as oxide, and the • percentages given in that way.

The following is an example given in the ordinary form :

CaO	28.4
MgO	12.3
FeO	12.3
MnO	1.9
CO_2	44.4
	99.3

That the numbers do not add up to exactly 100 is due to the difficulty in making a perfectly accurate analysis.

0

I

sl

ir

ca

in

ce su

an we the M_i

In the same manner as the ratios between the *ele*ments of organic compounds were calculated, we may calculate the ratios of the oxides. The quantity of calcium oxide must be divided by 56, of magnesium oxide by 40, and so on.

Doing this with the mineral in question, we have:

,		Ratio	
Calcium oxide,	28.4%;	$\frac{28.4}{56} = 0.507$	
Magnesium oxide,	12.3%;	$\frac{12.3}{40} = 0.307$	
Ferrous oxide,	12.3%;	$\frac{12.3}{72} = 0.170$	0.50
Manganese oxide,	1.9%;	$\frac{1.9}{71} = 0.027$	
Carbon dioxide,	44.4%;	$\frac{44.4}{44} = 1.009$	

The ratio of the calcium oxide to the magnesium oxide, along with the oxides which replace it isomorphously, is I : I, and to the carbon dioxide I : 2.

Therefore the formula may be written

 $CaO.(Mg, Fe, Mn)O.2CO_2$

103

oo is . curate

e *ele*e may ity of esium

have:

.504

lesium somoror Ca(Mg, Fe, Mn)(CO₃)₂; or it may be considered as a mixture of the isomorphous substances, CaMg(CO₃)₂, CaFe(CO₃)₂, and CaMn(CO₃)₂, the relative amounts of these substances being shown by the ratios 307, 170, and 27. If the mineral were pure dolomite, we should have more magnesium oxide, instead of the iron oxide and manganese oxide. It is interesting to calculate the amount of magnesium oxide corresponding to those other oxides, and thus obtain the percentage composition of pure dolomite from the results of this analysis.

The weight of MgO is evidently $\frac{40}{72}$ that of FeO and $\frac{40}{71}$ that of MnO. In the ratios obtained above we have already divided by the denominators of these fractions; hence, to obtain the amounts of MgO, corresponding to the FeO and MnO, we merely need to multiply the ratios by 40.

Doing this we have :

Ratio FeO 0.170 × 40 = 6.8% MgO equivalent to FeO. MnO 0.027 × 40 = 1.1% MgO equivalent to MnO. $\frac{12.3\%}{20.2\%}$ MgO in analysis. $\frac{12.3\%}{20.2\%}$ Total MgO. This amount of magnesium oxide added to the calcium oxide and carbon dioxide does not amount to 100, but to 93; but we may easily calculate it into percentages.

CaO	$28.4 \pm 0.93 =$	30.5%
MgO	20.2 + 0.93 =	21.7
CO3	44.4 + 0.93 =	47.8
	93.	100. %

and this percentage corresponds with the formula CaO. MgO. $2 CO_2$ or CaMg $(CO_8)_2$.

A sample of pyroxene may be taken as another illustration.

Silica 55.40%; $\frac{55.40}{60} = 0.923$ Ferrous oxide 2.50%; $\frac{2.50}{72} = 0.035$ Manganese oxide 2.83%; $\frac{2.83}{71} = 0.040$ Magnesium oxide 22.57%; $\frac{22.57}{40} = 0.564$ Calcium oxide 15.70%; $\frac{15.70}{56} = 0.280$

Ratio, 1:1; Formula, (Mg, Ca, Mn, Fe)O, SiO₂.

In order to show what variations may occur, and how nearly the ratios approach to the ideal, the analyses of different garnets may be given. Fre

Frc Fro

ther

T theo facts ence as co

o the nount t into

rmula

nother

0.919

 $5iO_2$. ur, and al, the

	Ga	arnets.	
	I	11	III
SiO ₂	38.25%	37.11%	36.65%
Al ₂ O ₈	19.35	5.88	17.50
Fe ₂ O ₈	7.33		
Cr_2O_8		22.54	6.20
FeO		2.44	4.97
MnO	0.50		
MgO	2.40	1.10	0.81
CaO	31.75	30.34	33.20
	99.58%	99.41%	99.33%

From I. SiO_2 : (Al₂O₃, Fe₂O₃): (MnO, MgO, CaO) = 0.637: 0.235: 0.634;

From II. SiO_2 : (Al₂O₃, Cr₂O₃): (FeO, MgO, CaO) = 0.618: 0.198: 0.602;

From III. $SiO_2 : (Al_2O_3, Cr_2O_3) : (FeO, MgO, CaO)$ = 0.611 : 0.214 : 0.681 ;

therefore the probable formula for garnet is

 $3 \text{ RO} \cdot \text{R}_2\text{O}_3 \cdot 3 \text{ SiO}_2$.

Though calculations do not depend upon any theory regarding the constitution of matter, all the facts described find a ready explanation if the existence of atoms is admitted, matter being considered as composed of indivisible particles. In this way it

is seen why the quantity of oxygen united to a given quantity of carbon should be exactly twice as much in carbon dioxide as in carbon monoxide.

The kinetic theory of gases gives support to the idea of molecules and to Avogadro's law. It is not the purpose of this little book, however, to deal with the theoretical side of the subject.

EXAMPLES

1. State concisely how the combining weight of an element, as, for example, nitrogen, can be found from vapour density determinations and analyses. (Cornell Univ., March, 1898.)

Analysis of ammonia shows the volume of the contained hydrogen to be 3 times that of the nitrogen, and this with the vapour density determines the formula NH_3 . The weight of the nitrogen is $4\frac{2}{3}$ that of the hydrogen, therefore the weight represented by the symbol N is 14 times that represented by the symbol H.

2. Alcohol contains

Carbon .	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	52.17%
Oxygen .	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	34.79
Hydrogen		•	•	÷		•	•	13.04

The specific gravity of its vapour is 1.593 (referred to air); find its molecular weight. (Cornell Univ., June, 1896.) Ans. C_2H_6O . The period of the second secon

diox is 2 oxy lum A

5. lowir

to a ace as ac. to the is not l with

of an 1 from Cornell

ntained his with . The nerefore nes that

> to air) ; 96.) C₂H₆O.

3. One gramme of acetic acid gave on combustion 1.466 grammes of carbon dioxide and 0.600 of water. The vapour density of acetic acid is 30. Calculate the percentage of carbon, hydrogen, and oxygen; give the empirical and molecular formulæ. (Columbia Univ., May, 1898.) Ans. Carbon = 40%, hydrogen = 6.66%.

The percentage of oxygen is obtained by subtracting the sum of the carbon and hydrogen from 100, and is 53.34%. Empirical formula CH₂O, but since this formula represents 22.4 litres of vapour as weighing only 30 grammes, that is, only *fifteen* times as much as hydrogen, the molecular formula must be C₂H₄O₂, which is *thirty* times as heavy as hydrogen.

4. One gramme of alcohol gave, on combustion, carbon dioxide 1.913, water 1.173. The vapour density of alcohol is 23; calculate the percentage of carbon, hydrogen, and oxygen; give the empirical and molecular formulæ. (Columbia Univ., May, 1898.)

Ans.	Carbon .	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	52.2
	Hydrogen	•	•	•		•	•	•	•	13.0
	Oxygen	•	•		•	•		•		34.8
	Empirical	foi	mu	ıla			•	•	•	C_2H_6O
	Molecular	•		•		•	C ₂ H ₆ O			

5. Calculate the formula of mellitic acid from the following data :

Carbon	•	•	•	•		•	•	•	42.1%
Hydroge	n		•	•	•	•	•	•	1.7
Oxygen		•	•		•	•	•	•	56.2
									100.0

108

All the hydrogen can be replaced by a metal. It is hexabasic. (Harvard Univ., 1885.)

The simplest or empirical formula is C_2HO_2 , but since it is hexabasic and all the hydrogens may be replaced by metal, the formula as above given must be multiplied by 6; therefore the molecular formula is $C_{12}H_6O_{12}$.

6. Calculate the atomic weight of molybdenum from the following data :

Percentage composition of chloride

Molybden	um	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	40.33
Chlorine	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	59.67
									100.00

Specific heat of molybdenum = 0.064. (Harvard Univ., 1887.)

Since the specific heat multiplied by the atomic weight should give a number approximately equal to 6, the atomic weight of molybdenum should be in the neighbourhood of 94.

But the quantity of the chlorine is approximately $\frac{3}{2}$ as great as the molybdenum, therefore 94 of molybdenum would need 141 of chlorine. But 141 is approximately 4×35.5 , therefore we may assume that the chloride in question has the formula MoCl₄.

With this assumption, we calculate from the data ---

Atomic weight of molybdenum = $40.33 \times \frac{142}{59.67} = 96$

fc

cc

ula for agr lik sid

is 8 cula chlo F 50 a supe chloi use o be 50 9. lowin It is

since ed by ed by

from

Univ.,

: weight : atomic purhood

ely $\frac{3}{2}$ as bdenum kimately oride in

= 96

7. Determine the atomic weight of glucinum from the following data :

The vapour density of glucinic chloride is 40.2, and it contains 11.7% of glucinum. (Harvard Univ., 1885.)

The vapour density being 40.2, the standard (or molecular) weight is 80.4; and the chlorine must be 71, therefore the glucinum is 9.4 (or some submultiple). This agrees exactly with the analysis given. That 9.4 is more likely correct than any submultiple is proved by other considerations.

8. A metal X forms a volatile chloride containing

X = 34.46Chlorine = 65.54

The vapour density of the chloride referred to hydrogen is 81.25. The specific heat of the metal is 0.11379. Calculate the atomic weight of X and give the formula of the chloride. (London Univ. Int. Sci., 1893.)

From the specific heat, the atomic weight of X is between 50 and 60, and therefore from the vapour density and a superficial glance at the proportion of the elements in the chloride, it appears that the formula is XCl_3 . Then making use of the exact figures, the atomic weight of X is found to be 56.

9. Calculate the formula of the substance from the following percentage composition :

 Silicon
 26.27
 Calcium 18.43

 Magnesium 11.06
 Oxygen 44.24

 (Sydney Univ., 1894.)
 Ans. CaMgSi₂O₆.

10. Two specimens of chromite upon analysis gave the following percentages :

	1	II
Cr_2O_3	55.37%	55.14%
Al_2O_3	13.97	5.75
Fe ₂ O ₃	1.10	12.06
FeO	18.04	18.02
MgO	10.04	9.39
	98.52	100.36

What is the typical formula? Ans. $RO + R_2O_3$.

11. What is the formula of the mineral three samples of which gave on analysis :

]	11	111
S	15.92%	17.83%	19.93%
Ag	52.71	28.79	24.04
Cu	30.95	53.38	53.94
	99.58	100.00	97.91
			Ans. (Ag, Cu) ₂ S.

12. Two samples of erythrite, on analysis, gave the following percentages. What is the formula of the mineral?

	1	11
As_2O_3	38.43%	36.42%
CoO	36.52	23.75
NiO		11.26
FeO	1.01	3.51
CaO		0.42
H₂O	24.10	23.52

Ans. $_3$ RO \cdot As₂O₅ \cdot 8 H₂O.

ch

C

an wit

819 1 l of cor ing

(d)

ve the

· R₂O₃.

ples of

%

Cu)₂S.

the folheral?

8 H₂O.

13. Penfield found by analysis of triphylite the following composition. What is the formula of the mineral?

P ₂ O ₅	44.76
FeO	26.40
MnO	17.84
CaO	0.24
MgO	0.47
Li ₂ O	9.36
Na ₂ O	0.35

Ans. $P_2O_5 \cdot 2(Fc, Mn, Ca, Mg)O \cdot (Li_2, Na_2)O$, or chiefly Li(Fe, Mn) PO_4 .

Miscellaneous Examples

1. What volume of chlorine should be obtained at 20° C. and 760 mm., by acting on 1 gramme of manganese dioxide with hydrochloric acid? (Univ. of Sydney, 1895.)

Ans. 276.3 c.c.

2. What volume of carbon monoxide, at a temperature 819° C. and pressure 720 mm., would be required to reduce 1 kilogramme of ferrous oxide to metallic iron? (Univ. of Sydney, 1895.) Ans. 1313.5 litres.

3. How many litres of oxygen are required for the complete combustion of 2 litres of each of the following: (a) carbon monoxide, (b) methane, (c) ethylene, (d) acetylene? (Univ. of Sydney, 1896.)

Ans. (a) I litre; (b) 4 litres; (c) 6 litres; (d) 5 litres.

II2

4. A monobasic organic acid has the empirical formula CH_2O ; 0.296 gramme of its silver salt gave on ignition 0.162 gramme of silver. What is its molecular weight and molecular formula? (Univ. of Sydney, 1896.)

Since the acid is monobasic, the silver salt has the formula AgX, where X stands for all that is not silver, and the acid itself has the formula HX. The molecular weight of the silver salt is therefore $108 \times \frac{296}{162} = 197$; hence the molecular weight of the acid HX is 90, which is three times the weight represented by the empirical formula CH_2O . The molecular formula, therefore, of the acid is $C_3H_6O_3$.

5. What is the result of the action of chlorine on ammonia? How much chlorine would be required to decompose 1.7 grains of ammonia? (McGill Univ. Med. Exam., 1897.) Ans. 2.66 grains.

6. The composition of a compound is

Barium	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	46.12
Sulphur	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	21.54
Oxygen	•	•	•		•	•	•	•	•	•	32.32
											99.98

What is the formula and name of the compound? (First Professional Exam., Glasgow Univ., 1888.)

Ans. Barium dithionate; BaS_2O_6 . 7. A substance has the following composition: carbon 10.04%, hydrogen 0.83%, chlorine 89.13%, and its vapour density is 59.75. What is its name and formula? (Finst Professional Exam., Glasgow, 1888.)

Ans. Chloroform; CHCl₃.

рі пе 18

re to pe be 73 fes

30 fol

(F

was

8. A litre of a mineral water yielded 0.0134 gramme of silver iodide. How much iodine is contained in 100,000 c.c. of the water? (First Professional Exam., Glasgow Univ., 1889.) Ans. 0.7241 gramme.

9. How many litres of oxygen, at 12° C. and 750 mm. pressure, can be got by heating 100 grammes of manganese dioxide? (First Professional Exam., Glasgow Univ., 1890.)

 $3 \text{ MnO}_2 = \text{Mn}_3\text{O}_4 + \text{O}_2$. Ans. 9.076 litres.

113

10. Calculate the weight of zinc and hydrochloric acid, respectively, which would be required to produce hydrogen to inflate a balloon of 1000 cubic metres capacity, at a temperature of 15° C., and pressure of 760 mm. What would be the bulk of the gas when the barometer had fallen to 730 mm., and the temperature was -6° C.? (First Professional Exam., Glasgow Univ., 1891.)

I cubic metre = 1000 litres.

Ans. Zinc, 2771.8 kilogrammes; hydrochloric acid, 3089.2 kilogrammes; 965.18 cubic metres.

11. What are the formula and name of the salt having the following percentage composition?

Calcium .	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	38.72
Phosphorus	•		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	20.00
Oxygen .	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	41.28

(First Professional Exam., Glasgow Univ., 1892.)

Ans. Tricalcic phosphate; Ca₃(PO₄)₂.

12. A liquid containing 1 gramme of sodium chloride was added to another containing 2 grammes of silver ni-

ormula gnition weight

as the er, and weight ce the e times CH_2O . O_3 . on amlecom-Exam., grains.

(First

BaS₂O₆, carbon vapour (Fingt

CHCl₃.

114

trate. Whether did the filtered liquid contain sodium chloride or silver nitrate, and how much? (First Professional Exam., Glasgow Univ., 1892.)

Ans. Sodium chloride; 0.3117 gramme.

13. What volume of hydrogen and oxygen, respectively, could be got from a cubic centimetre of water at its maximum density point? (First Professional Exam., Glåsgow Univ., 1892.)

Ans. Hydrogen, 1.244 litres; oxygen, 0.622 litre.

14. To what temperature centigrade would 30 litres of hydrogen measured at 70° F. require to be reduced to occupy 20 litres? (First Professional Exam., Glasgow Univ., 1893.)

 $70^{\circ} \text{ F.} = 21.1^{\circ} \text{ C.}$ Ans. $-76.93^{\circ} \text{ C.}$

15. Calculate what volume of nitrogen, measured at 15° C. and 750 mm., could be obtained from 1 gramme of urea by the action of sodium hypobromite, assuming all the nitrogen to be liberated in the process. (First Professional Exam., Glasgow Univ., 1896.)

It is only necessary for this problem to know the formula of urea, since we are told that all the nitrogen is liberated. Urea has the formula $CO(NH_2)_2$. Ans. 251.71 c.c.

. 16. What weights of ammonium chloride and quick lime must be taken in order to produce 2 litres of ammonia — the gas to be measured at 17° C. and 750 mm.? (First Professional Exam., Glasgow Univ., 1897.)

Ans. Ammonium chloride, 4.439 grammes; quick lime, 2.963 grammes.

co w m E

of sil hy gr U

> са 18

17. What volume of oxygen gas, measured at 700 mm. pressure and 10° C. temperature, can be obtained from 100 grammes of potassium chlorate? (First Professional Exam., Edin. Univ., 1888.)

18. How many litres of oxygen, measured at 15° C. and 750 mm., are required for the complete combustion of 100 grammes of marsh gas? (First Professional Exam., Edin. Univ., 1891.)

19. How many cubic centimetres of carbonic anhydride, measured at 730 mm. and 20° C., would be obtained by the complete combustion of 1 gramme of cane sugar? (First Professional Exam., Edin. Univ., 1891.)

Ans. 878.4 c.c.

115

20. What would be the weight of the products of the complete combustion of 500 grammes of ethylene, and what would be the volume in litres of the gaseous product measured at 10° C. and 740 mm.? (First Professional Exam., Edin. Univ., 1892.)

Ans. 2214.3 grammes; 851.73 litres.

21. Hydrochloric acid is diluted with water until 100 c.c. of the dilute solution exactly precipitate 0.34 gramme of silver nitrate; how many cubic centimetres of this dilute hydrochloric acid are required exactly to neutralize 0.68 gramme of ammonia? (First Professional Exam., Edin. Univ., March, 1893.) Ans. 2000 c.c.

22. What percentage of iron is contained in pure ferrous carbonate? (First Professional Exam., Edin. Univ., July, 1893.) Ans. 48.29%.

sodium Profes-

ctively, maxilasgow

2 litre. itres of ced to Hasgow

5.93° C. ared at gramme ning all rst Pro-

formula perated. .71 c.c. ck lime onia — (First

k lime,

23. What volume in litres of carbonic oxide, at 760 mm. and 0° C., can be obtained from 10 grammes of sodium formate, by the action of strong sulphuric acid? (First Professional Exam., Edin. Univ., 1894.)

The equation representing the reaction is

 $2 \text{ HCOONa} + \text{H}_2\text{SO}_4 = \text{Na}_2\text{SO}_4 + 2 \text{ H}_2\text{O} + 2 \text{ CO}$

Ans. 3.294 litres.

F

а

2

v E

24. What volume of nitrogen at standard temperature and pressure can be obtained from 100 grammes of ammonium nitrite? (First Professional Exam., Edin. Univ., 1894.) Ans. 35 litres.

25. 50 c.c. of a given solution of hydrochloric acid are exactly sufficient to precipitate as silver chloride the whole of the silver from 2 grammes of silver nitrate. What weight of caustic soda would be exactly neutralized by 100 c.c. of this solution? Calculate the result to three places of decimals. (First Professional Exam., Edin. Univ., July, 1894.) Ans. 0.941 gramme.

26. Calculate to two places of decimals the percentage composition of silver.acetate. (First Professional Exam., Edin. Univ., July, 1895.)

Ans. Silver, 64.67%; carbon, 14.37%; hydrogen, 1.79%; oxygen, 19.16%.

27. What weight of metallic zinc is required for the precipitation of 5 grammes of metallic silver from a solution of silver acetate? (First Professional Exam., Edin. Univ., March, 1896.) Ans. 1.470 grammes.

28. Calculate the percentage composition of urea, to two places of decimals. (First Professional Exam., Edin. Univ., 1896.)

Ans. Carbon, 20.00%; oxygen, 26.67%; nitrogen, 46.67%; hydrogen, 6.66%.

29. What weight in grammes of silver oxide must be taken to obtain, by heating it, 1 litre of oxygen gas measured at 0° C. and 760 mm.? (First Professional Exam., Edin. Univ., July, 1897.) Ans. 20.72 grammes.

30. What volume in litres of hydrogen, measured at 0° C. and 760 mm. pressure, would be produced by the action of 20 grammes of sodium on water? What would be the volume at 18° C. and 750 mm.? (First Professional Exam., Edin. Univ., March, 1898.) Ans. 9.739 litres; 10.517 litres.

o mm. odium (First

С

litres.

rature ummo-Univ., litres. id are whole weight c.c. of f deci-1894.) amme.

entage Exam.,

rogen,

or the solu-Edin. mmes.



APPENDICES



APPENDIX A

THE FRENCH SYSTEM OF MEASURES

THE French standard of *length* is the metre, which is a little more than 39.37 inches. It is divided into tenths, hundredths, and thousandths, called respectively decimetre, centimetre, and millimetre; the Latin prefixes being used for the fractions. Greek prefixes are used to denote multiples of the standard, the most important being the kilometre, which is 1000 metres or 0.6214 mile.

The standard *capacity* is the litre or cubic decimetre, equal to 1.76 pints. It is also subdivided into decilitre, centilitre, and millilitre, but, instead of using these terms, it is more common to use the term cubic centimetre, 1000 of which make a litre.

> 10 millilitres or 10 c.c. = 1 centilitre 10 centilitres or 100 c.c. = 1 decilitre 10 decilitres or 1000 c.c. = 1 litre

A cubic centimetre of water at the temperature of 4° C. weighs a gramme, which is the standard of *weight*, and is divided into decigrammes, centigrammes, and milligrammes. The weight of a litre of water at 4° C. is 1000 grammes or 1 kilogramme, equal nearly to 2.2 pounds avoirdupois.

APPENDIX B

ARITHMETICAL CALCULATIONS

THE full form of the calculation on page 19 is

96 grammes of oxygen are prepared from 245 grammes of potassium chlorate.

- I gramme of oxygen is prepared from $245 \times \frac{1}{96}$ gramme of potassium chlorate.
- 80 grammes of oxygen are prepared from $245 \times \frac{80}{96}$ gramme of potassium chlorate.

It should never be necessary for the student to go through all of the steps, however. To prepare 80 grammes of oxygen evidently requires less chlorate than to prepare 96 grammes; and it is almost equally evident that it requires $\frac{89}{6}$ as much. The student can always be kept right in the manipulation of the fractions by asking the simple question whether the answer should be more or less than the number given (by the equation or otherwise), and then by arranging the terms of the fraction so as to obtain the required result. This is really the old Rule of Three expressed in different form, and I should not have thought it necessary to write this appendix, except that I have found by experience that blunders are made by students from whom one might least expect it. The method of solving problems from the common-sense point of view rather than by direct application of formula has been frequently followed in the text, and is the one which is best fitted to prevent slips in the arithmetic.

P

С

C

SC

w

ra

si

sc

F

С

APPENDICES

APPENDIX C

COMPARISON OF THERMOMETRIC SCALES

THERE are two thermometric scales in which the melting point of ice is taken as the zero. These are the Centigrade and Réaumur scales. In the former the boiling point of water is called 100 (whence the name centigrade); in the latter, 80.

In the Fahrenheit scale the distance between the melting point of ice and the boiling point of water is divided into 180 parts; but the melting of ice is not the zero, but is called 32°, and the zero probably marks what Fahrenheit considered the *lowest attainable* temperature.

The method of changing from one scale to the other is so clearly given in Tait's "Heat" that I transcribe it : "If we suppose the same thermometer to have these three separate scales adjusted to it, or (still better) engraved side by side upon the tube, we easily see how to reduce from one scale to the other.



"For if f, c, r be the various readings of one temperature, it is obvious that

f - 32	bears	the same rat	io to (212	— 32, or)	180
that c	bears		to		100
and r	bears		to		80
"Hence		$\frac{f-32}{180} =$	$\frac{c}{100}=\frac{r}{80},$)	

mes of

gramme

gramme

through of oxypare 96 requires t in the question number arrangrequired essed in essary to perience e might from the applicahe text, s in the

APPENDIX D

CALCULATION OR ATOMIC WEIGHTS OF THE MORE COMMON ELEMENTS

NAME.	Sym- bol.	Weight.	NAME.	Sym- bol.	Weight.
Aluminium	Al	27	Iodine	. 1	127
Antimony	Sb	120	Iron	Fe	56
Arsenic	As	75	Lead	Pb	207
Barium	Ba	137	Magnesium .	. Mg	24.5
Bismuth	Bi	208	Manganese .	. Mn	55
Boron	Bo	II	Mercury	. Hg	200
Bromine	Br	80	Nickel	. Ni	58.5
Cadmium	Cd	112.5	Nitrogen	. N	14
Calcium	Ca	40	Oxygen	0	16
Carbon [•]	C C	12	Phosphorus .	P	31
Chlorine	Cl	35.5	Potassium	K	39
Chromium	Cr	52	Silicon	Si	28.5
Cobalt	Co	59	Silver	Ag	108
Copper	Cu	63.5	Sodium	Na	23
Fluorine	F	19	Strontium	Sr	87.5
Gold	Au	197.5	Sulphur	s	32
Hydrogen	н	I	Tin	. Sn	119
			Zinc	Zn	65.5

APPENDICES

APPENDIX E

EQUATIONS IN FREQUENT USE

THE following equations are among the most commonly met. Though equations are made to represent the facts as found out by experiment, the beginner often finds it easiest to remember the equation, and to translate it into a verbal expression of the experimental fact. In the following equations gases are represented by the italics, and of these volumes may be calculated.

OXYGEN

e in eda	2 HgO Mercuric oxide	=	$2 \text{ Hg} + O_2$
(or black oxid	3 MnO ₂ Manganese peroxide e of manganese)	=	${ m Mn_3O_4} + O_2$ Manganoso- manganic oxide (or red oxide of manganese)
	2 KClO ₃	=	2 KCl + 3 <i>O</i> 2
	$\mathrm{C}+\mathit{O}_{\scriptscriptstyle 2}$	=	CO_2
	$S + O_2$	=	SO2 Sulphur dioxide
	$P_4 + 5 O_2$	=	2 P ₂ O ₅ Phosphorus pentoxide
	3 Fe + 2 O_2	=	$Fe_{3}O_{4}$

Ferroso-ferric oxide

ORE

Weight.

$2 \text{ KMnO}_{4} +$	$_{3}$ H ₂ SO ₄	+	$5 H_2O_2$
Potassium			Hydrogen
permanganate			peroxide

 $= \underset{\substack{\text{N}_2\text{SO}_4 \\ \text{Potassium} \\ \text{sulphate}}}{\text{K}_2\text{SO}_4 + 2 \text{ MnSO}_4 + 8 \text{ H}_2\text{O} + 5 \text{ O}_2}$

Hydrogen

2 H ₂ O	=	$_{2}H_{2}+O_{2}$
$2 \text{ K} + 2 \text{ H}_2\text{O}$	H	2 KOH + H ₂ Potassium hydrate
$_3$ Fe + $_4$ H ₂ O	=	$\mathrm{Fe}_{3}\mathrm{O}_{4}+4H_{2}$
Zn + 2 HCl	=	$ZnCl_2 + H_2$
$Zn + H_2SO_4$	=	$ZnSO_4 + H_2$
$ZnO + H_2SO_4$	=	$ZnSO_4 + H_2O$
$CuO + H_2$	=	$Cu + H_2O$

Nitrogen

KNO ₂ + NH ₄ Cl Potassium Ammonium nitrite chloride	=	$\mathrm{KCl} + 2 \mathrm{H}_{2}\mathrm{O} + N_{2}$
2 NH ₄ Cl + CaO Lime	=	$CaCl_2 + H_2O + 2NH_3$ Ammonia
$NH_3 + HCl$	=	NH ₄ Cl
$4 NH_3 + 3 O_2$	= `	$2 N_2 + 6 H_2 O$
NH₄NO₃ Ammonium nitrate	=	$2 H_2O + N_2O$ Nitrous oxide

APPENDICES

 $3 \text{Cu} + 8 \text{HNO}_3 = 3 \text{Cu}(\text{NO}_3)_2 + 4 \text{H}_2\text{O} + 2 NO$ Cupric Nitric nitrate oxide

 $2 \operatorname{Pb}(\operatorname{NO}_3)_2 = 2 \operatorname{PbO} + O_2 + 2 N_2 O_4^*$ Nitrogen peroxide

$$KNO_3 + H_2SO_4 = KHSO_4 + HNO_3$$

Potassium
acid sulphate

CARBON

 $CaCO_{3} = CaO + CO_{2}$ $CaCO_{3} + 2 HCl = CaCl_{2} + H_{2}O + CO_{2}$ $C_{2}H_{2}O_{4} = H_{2}O + CO + CO_{2}$ Oxalicacid

 $K_4 FeC_6N_6 + 6 H_2O + 6 H_2SO_4$ Potassium ferrocyanide

 $= 2 K_2 SO_4 + 3 (NH_4)_2 SO_4 + FeSO_4 + 6 CO$ $2 CO + O_2 = 2 CO_2$ $CO_2 + C = 2 CO$ $4 CO_2 + 3 Fe = Fe_3O_4 + 4 CO$ $NaC_2H_3O_2 + NaOH = Na_2CO_3 + CH_4$ Sodium
acetate
or marsh gas

$$CH_4 + 2 O_2 = CO_2 + 2 H_2O$$

* At about 100° C. the formula of nitrogen peroxide is NO₂.

 $CaC_2 + 2 H_2O = Ca(OH)_2 + C_2H_2$ Calcium carbide

Slaked Acetylene lime

M

 $2 C_2 H_2 + 5 O_2 = 4 C O_2 + 2 H_2 O_2$ $C + 2 N_2 O = CO_2 + 2 N_2$

CHLORINE

$NaCl + H_2SO_4$	=	NaHSO ₄ + <i>HCl</i>
$2 \text{ NaCl} + \text{H}_2 \text{SO}_4$	=	$Na_2SO_4 + 2 HCl$
NaOH + HCl	=	$NaCl + H_2O$
$MnO_2 + 4$ HCl	=	$MnCl_2 + 2 H_2O + Cl_2$
$_{2}C_{2}^{\prime}+_{2}H_{2}O$		4 HCl + O_2

 $K_2Cr_2O_7 + \tau_4 HCl = 2 KCl + 2 CrCl_3 + 7 H_2O + 3 Cl_2$ Potassium Chromic bichromate chloride

$2 \text{ KOH} + Cl_2$	=	KCl + KClO
		Potassium
		hypochlorite

 $6 \text{ KOH} + 3 Cl_2 = 5 \text{ KCl} + \text{KClO}_3$

 $KClO + 2 HCl = KCl + H_2O + Cl_2$

 $3 \text{ KClO}_3 + 2 \text{ H}_2 \text{SO}_4 = \text{ KClO}_4 + 2 \text{ KHSO}_4 + \text{H}_2 \text{O} + \text{Cl}_2 \text{O}_4$ Potassium Chlorine perchlorate peroxide

 $8 NH_3 + 3 Cl_2 = 6 NH_4Cl + N_2$

 $C_2H_4 + Cl_2 = C_2H_4Cl_2$ Ethylene Ethylene dichloride
APPENDICES

. IODINE

 $MnO_{2} + 2 KI + 2 H_{2}SO_{4} = K_{2}SO_{4} + MnSO_{4} + 2 H_{2}O + I_{2}$ $2 KI + CI_{2} = 2 KCI + I_{2}$

FLUORINE

 $CaF_{2} + H_{2}SO_{4} = CaSO_{4} + 2 HF$ $SiO_{2} + 4 HF = SiF_{4} + 2 H_{2}^{\bullet}O$ Silica Silicon fluoride

$3SiF_4 + 4\mathrm{H}_2\mathrm{O}$	=	H_4SiO_4	$+ 2 H_2 SiF_6$
		Silicic	Hydrofluo-
		acid	silicic acid

SULPHUR

FeS_2	=	FeS + S
Pyrite		Ferrous
		sulphide

$FeS + H_2SO_4$	=	$FeSO_4 + H_2S$
$Sb_2S_3 + 6 HCl$ Antimony trisulphide	=	$2 \operatorname{SbCl}_3 + 3 H_2 S$

 $2 H_2 S + 3 O_2 = 2 H_2 O + 2 SO_2$ CuSO₄ + H₂S = CuS + H₂SO₄ H₂S + 4 Br₂ + 4 H₂O = 8 HBr + H₂SO₄ H₂S + I₂ = 2 HI + S

PHOSPHORUS

 $P_4 + 3 \text{ KOH} + 3 H_2 O = 3 \text{ KH}_2 PO_2 + PH_3$ Potassium Phosphine hypophosphite

3 Cl2

Cl₂O₄ orine oxide 129

к

ARITHMETIC OF CHEMISTRY

 $2 PH_3 + 4 O_2 = P_2O_5 + 3 H_2O$

 $2 H_3 PO_2 =$ Hypophosphorous acid

 $2 H_3 PO_4 + PH_3$ Phosphoric acid

4 H₃PO₃ $_{3}$ H₃PO₄ + PH₃ = Phosphorous acid

Tricalcic phosphate

 $Ca_3(PO_4)_2 + 2 H_2SO_4 = CaH_4(PO_4)_2 + 2 CaSO_4$ Calcium acid phosphate

T

 $CaH_4(PO_4)_2 =$

 $Ca(PO_3)_2 + 2 H_2O$ Calcium metaphosphate

 $3 \operatorname{Ca}(\operatorname{PO}_3)_2 + 10 \operatorname{C} = \operatorname{Ca}_3(\operatorname{PO}_4)_2 + 10 \operatorname{CO} + \operatorname{P}_4$

130

APPENDICES

APPENDIX F

VAPOUR PRESSURE OF WATER BETWEEN THE TEMPERATURES 0° C. AND 100° C.

(TAKEN FROM DITTMAR'S CHEMICAL ARITHMETIC)

Темр.	VAPOUR Pressure	Темр.	VAPOUR Pressure.	Темр.	Vapour Pressure.	Темр.	Vapour Pressure,
o°	4.57						
I	4.91	26	24.96	51	96.66	76	301.09
2	5.27	27	26.47	52	101.55	77	313.85
3	5.66	28	28.07	53	106.65	78	327.05
4	6.07	29	29.74	54	111.97	79	340.73
5	6.51	30	31.51	55	117.52	80	354.8 7
6	6.97	31	33.37	56	123.29	81	369.51
7	7.47	32	35.32	57	129.31	82	384.64
8	7.99	33	37.37	58	135.58	83	400.29
9	8.55	34	39.52	59	142.10	84	416.47
10	9.14	35	41.78	60	148.88	85	433.19
II	9.77	36	44.16	61	155.95	86	450.47
12	10.43	37	46.65	62	163.29	87	468.32
13	11.14	38	49.26	63	170.82	88	486.76
14	11.88	39	52.00	64	178.86	89	505.81
15	12.67	40	54.87	65	187.10	90	525.47
16	13.51	4I	57.87	66	195.67	91	545.77
17	14.40	42	61.02	67	204.56	92	566.71
18	15.33	43	64.31	68	213.79	93	588.33
19	16.32	44	67.76	69	223.37	94	610.64
20	17.36	45	71.36	70	233.31	95	633.66
21	18.47	46	75.13	71	243.62	96	657.40
22	19.63	47	79.07	72	254.30	97	681.88
23	20.86	48	83.19	73	265.38	98	707.13
24	22.15	49	87.49	74	276.87	99	733.16
2 5	23.52	50	91.98	75	288.76	100	760.00

P4

ARITHMETIC OF CHEMISTRY

132

APPENDIX G

TO FIND THE LOGARITHMS OF A NUMBER

RULE. — Regard the number Q as separated into two factors $q \times 10^{+n}$, where q begins in the units' place. Find in the tables the logarithm of q. This will be the mantissa of the desired logarithm. Prefix to this the characteristic or index \pm n.

A few examples will sufficiently elucidate the process.

Example. — Desired the logarithm to four decimal places of the number 306.

Write the number, or, better, merely consider it as if factored in the form $3.06 \cdot 10^2$. In the four-place table, on the line 3.0 and in the column headed 6 will be found .4857, which is log 3.06. Obviously, log $10^2 = 2$. Therefore log 306. = log $3.06 + \log 10^2 = .4857 + 2$, which is usually written 2.4857.

Further Examples. Interpolation. — Desired to four decimal places the logarithm of 306.2.

This will lie between the logs of 306 and 307 (and approximately 0.2 of the way), and as the table is not carried out further we must interpolate.

For 3.07 we find .4871 For 3.06 we find .4871 Interpolation, 0.2 of 1.4 = 2.8 = 3 $\therefore \log 3.062 = \log 3.062 + \log 10^2$ = 2.4860Difference = .0014, usually written ten 14. The desired mantissa will be 0.2 of the way from .4857 to .4871. Hence we must add to the former number 0.2 14. = 3.

The interpolation may always be made by subtracting and multiplying as in this example, but to save the labour, logar ti be

tio

sta = op Ti pu log th

ne

APPENDICES

arithm tables are usually provided with marginal interpolation tables, by the aid of which interpolations may easily be made mentally.

Thus in taking out log 3.062 we find log 3.06 = .4857. By inspection, difference = 14. In the interpolation table headed 14, line 2, stands 3, which is therefore the desired 0.2 of 14. Therefore log 3.062 = .4860. This operation could, of course, be carried out mentally.

The present tables are arranged so that the interpolation tables stand opposite, or nearly so, to the logarithms to which they correspond. This not only gives them a convenient location, but enables the computer usually to avoid even the mental subtraction of the successive logarithms to find the difference, since this will, of course, be that at the head of the nearest difference table. Usually also the error introduced by using an interpolation table slightly too large or too small is negligible.

rtwo Find ntissa stic or

s. of the

in the in the viously, 57 + 2,

ecimal

mately e must

y writ-

be 0.2 .4871. former

g and r, logFOUR PLACE LOCARITHMS.

2	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-		-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	00	0	-	3
ATION	32	3	9	01 0	1 13	1 16	61 0	1 22	7 26	1 29	24	3	5	~	0 10	12	5 14	11 8	61	3 22	1 16	6	3	Ś	9	6)I I	3 1	4
BLE	8 34	+	-	1 10	4 14	8 17	5 50	27	9 27	2 31	8 26	3	Ś	8	OI I	E1 +	7 16	31 0	2 21	5 23	0 18	2	4	ŝ	~ ~	o	12 1	141	101
TER	8	4	00	1	5	1 6	8	2	้ ดี 0	3	0 2	3	9	6	1	5 1	S I	1 20	5	7 2	8	2	4	-	8	11	13	S	18
ž	9			-	-	H	4	6	·.)	5								<u>cı</u>		~	64					-	~~~		_
6	.0039	0082	0124	0166	0208	.0249	0290	0330	0370	0410	.o374	o755	1106	1430	1732	2014	2279	2529	2765	2989	.3201	3404	3598	3784	3962	413	429	445(4600
8	.0035	2200	0120	0162	0204	.0245	0286	0326	0366	90100	.0334	6170	1072	1399	1703	7861.	2253	2504	2742	2967	.3181	3385	3579	3766	3945	.4116	42SI	4440	4594
4	0030	0073	911Q	0158	6610	0241	0282	0322	0362	0402	0294	0682	1038	1367	1673	1959	2227	2480	2718	2945	3160	3365	3560	3747	3927	4099	4265	4425	4579
9	0026	6900	0111	0154	0 195	0237	0278	0318	o358 .	o398	0253	0645	1004	1335	1644	1931	2201	2455	2695	2923	3139	3345	3541	3729	3909	4082	4249	4409	4564
ß	0022	0065	2010	0149	1610	0233 .	0273	0314	0354	0394	0212	2090	6960	1303	1614	1903	2175	2430	2672	2900	3118 .	3324	3522	3711	3892	4065	4232	4393	4548
	-	•	Ŭ	•	•	۳.	Ū	Ŭ	•	•		•	Ŭ			•					•	.,				~		~	~
4	7100.	0000	0103	0145	o187	.0228	0269	0310	0350	o390	0610.	0569	0934	1271	1584	.1875	2148	2405	2648	2878	.3096	3304	3502	3692	3874	404	4216	4378	453.
3	.0013	0056	6600	0141	0183	.0224	0265	0306	o346	o386	0128	0531	0899	1239	1553	.1847	2122	2380	2625	2856	3075	3284	3483	3674	3856	4031	4200	4362	4518
6	6000	0052	2600	0137	6L10	0220	0261	0302	0342	0382	0086	0492	0864	1206	1523	1818	2095	2355	2601	2833	3054	3263	3464	3655	3838	4014	4183	4346	4502
н	0004	0048	0000	o133	0175	0216	0257	0298	0338	o378	0043	o453	0828	1173	1492	06/1	2068	2330	2577	2810	3032 .	3243	3444	3636	3820	7665.	4166	4330	4487
0	0000	0043	0086	0128	0170	.0212	0253	0294	o334	o374	0000	0414	0792	1139	1461	. 1961.	2041	2304	2553	2788	. 3010	3222	3424	3617	3802	6292.	4150	4314	4472
No.	1.00	10.	.02	•03	.04	1.05	06	-02	.08	8	1.0	г.	ų	ů	4	1.5	9.		જં	<i>6</i> .	2.0	I.	લં	÷	4	2.5	ο φ	2.	ŝ

					-	_	_						_		_								_		_	_	_		
16	2	3	5	9	00	2	11	13	14	12	-	6	4	ŝ	9	-	8	01	11	60	H	61	61	m	4	Ś	0	٥	-
18	0	4	Ś	2	9	Π	13	14	16	13	Η	3	4	Ś	7	00	9	01	12	6	-	6	ŝ	4	ŝ	Ś	9		x
20	0	4	9	8	g	12	14	16	18	14	H	ŝ	4	9	7	00	2	Ξ	13	2	H	0	3	4	Ś	9	~	×	6
8	0	4	2	6		13	15	18	8	15	0	ŝ	ŝ	9	~	6	:	12	14	11	H	6	ŝ	4	9	~	~~~	<u>م</u>	<u>9</u>
.3201	3404	3598	3784	3962	4133	4295	4456	4609	4757	4900	5038	5172	5302	5428	-5551	5670	5786	5899	6010	6113.	6222	6325	6425	6522	6618	6712	6803	6893	1869
.3181	3385	3579	3766	3945	.4116	4281	4440	4594	4742	.4886	5024	5159	5289	5416	•5539	5658	5775	5888	5999	,6107	6212	6314	6415	6513	6099.	6702	6794	6884	6972
3160	3365	3560	3747	3927	4099	4265	4425	4579	4728	-4871	5011	5145	5276	5403	.5527	5647	5763	5877	5988	9609.	6201	6304	6405	6503	6659.	6693	6785	6875	6964
3139	3345	3541	3729	3909	.4082	4249	4409	4564	4713	-4857	4997	5132	5263	5391	.5515	5635	5752	5866	5977	.6085	1619	6294	6395	6493	.6590	6684	6776	6866	6955
.3118	3324	3522	3711	3892	.4065	4232	4393	4548	4698	4843	4983	5119	5250	5378	.5502	5623	5740	5855	5966	.6075	6180	6284	6385	6484	.6580	6675	6767	6857	6946
3096	3304	3502	3692	3874	.4048	4216	4378	4533	4683	4829	4969	5105	5237	5366	.5490	5611	5729	5843	5955	.6064	6170	6274	6375	6474	.6571	6665	6758	6848	6937
3075	3284	3483	3674	3856	4031	4200	4362	4518	4669	-4814	4955	5092	5224	5353	.5478	5599	5717	5832	5944	.6053	6160	6263	6365	6464	.6561	6656	6749	6839	6928
3054	3263	3464	3655	3838	4014	4183	4346	4502	4654	.4800	4942	5079	5211	5340	.5465	5587	5705	5821	5933	.6042	6149	6253	6355	6454	.6551	6646	6239	6830	6920
.3032	3243	3444	3636	3820	.3997	4166	4330	4487	4639	.4736	4928	5065	5198	5328	.5453	5575	5694	5809	5922	1500.	6138	6243	6345	6444	.6542	6637	6730	6821	1169
.3010	3222	3424	3617	3802	.3979	4150	4314	4472	4624	.4771	4914	5051	5185	5315	.5441	5563	5682	5798	5911	.6021	6128	6232	6335	6435	.6532	6628	6721	6812	6902
2.0		ų.	÷	4	2.5	. Q	Ŀ.	· ∞	ė	3.0	-	લં	ů	4	3. 7	9.9	2	. ∞ .	Ģ.	40	; -	લં	ů	4	4.5	9.0	2.	∞,	ó

FOUR PLACE LOGARITHMS.

m m

m 4

7:5 .6

					1	T.		-								_	-						_			_		-			-	
5	1	I	61	ы				S	ŝ	4	4	Ś	9	H	H	0	6	3	ŝ	4	4	ŝ	4	0	H	H	8	0	8	e	ŝ	4
9	-	•	6	61				ŝ	4	4	ŝ	S	9	I	I	61	0	S	4	4	ŝ	Ś	5	1	1	6	0	ŝ	ŝ	4	4	5
.8506	8567	8627	8686	8745				3802	3859	3915	3971	3025	6206	9133	9186	3238	9289	9340	9390	9440	9489	9538	9586	9633	9680	727	9773	9818	9863	8066	9952	9666
.8500	8501	8621	8681	8739				8. 797 .	8854 8	8910	8965 8	9020	9074 .	9128 9	9180	9232 9	9284 9	9335 .9	9385 9	9435	9484	9533 9	. 1856	9628	9675	9722	9768	9814 .	9539	9903 S	9948	1666
.8494	8555	8615	\$675		Sector Sector			191	3848	8904	3960	3015	5. 690¢	9122	3175 9	3227	5 6/26	9330 ·	3380	9430	9479	9528	5. 9256	9624	1296	L116	9763	· 6086	9854	6686	9943	1866
.8458	8549	8609	. 50		ł			Spur.	3842 8	3899	3954 8	5000	. E90¢	5 4116	0/16	3222	3274	3325 .9	9375 9	9425	9474 9	9523 9	5. 1726	6196	9999¢	9713 9	526	3805 .0	9850 9	\$686	9939	9983
.8482	8543	8603	8663	8722	-			s. <i>6778</i> .	8837 8	8893 8	8949 8	9004	9058 .9	9112 9	9165 9	9217 9	9269	9320	9370	9420	9469	9518 9	5. 9936.	9614	5 1996	9708	9754	j. 008(i.	9845 9	9890	9934	9978
.8476	8537	8597	8657	8716				8774	8831	8887	8943	8998	9053	9016	9159	9212	9263	9315	9365	9415	9465	9513	9562	6096	9657	9703	9750	9795	9841	9886	9930	9974
.8470	8531	8591	8651	S710				8768 .	8825	8882	8938	8993	9047	1016	9154	9206	9258	9309 .	9360	9410	9460	9509	9557 .	9605	9652	6696	9745	. 1676	9836	9881	9926	6966
.8463	8525	8585	ţ	864	870.			8762 .	8820	8876	8932	8987	9042 .	9606	9149	9201	9253	9304 .	9355	9405	9455	9504	9552 .	0006	9647	9694	974I	9786 .	9832	9877	9921	9965
.8457	8519	8579	•	030	8090	260		8756 .	8814	8871	8927	8982	9036 .	0606	9143	9616	9248	. 6626	9350	9400	9450	9499	9547 .	9595	9643	9689	92736	9782 .	9827	9872	4166	1966
.8451	8513	8573	8633	8692	1			.8751	8808	8865	8921	8976	1500.	9085	9138	1616	9243	. 9294	9345	9395	9445	. 9494	.9542	9590	9638	9685	9731	· 1176.	9823	9868	9912	9956
0.7	Γ.	ų		-			ı 4	7.5	9.		÷.	6.	8.0	I.	તં	÷	4	8.5	9.	2.	×,	6.	0.6		6	÷	4	9.5	9.	-7	×,	ė



THE PRACTICAL METHODS

OF

ORGANIC CHEMISTRY

AUTHORIZED TRANSLATION

12mo. Cloth. Price, \$1.60, net

BY

TRANSLATED BY

LUDWIG GATTERMANN, Ph.D., Professor in University of Heidelberg. WILLIAM SHAFER, Ph.D.,

Instructor in Organic Chemistry in Lehigh University.

THE GUARDIAN.

"The selection and judgment throughout is excellent. The book is a most useful, practical adjunct to any good text-book on organic chemistry."

PHARMACEUTICAL REVIEW.

"This is a book that should be in the library of every teacher of organic chemistry, and one which will no doubt be of great value to students in their second year of organic chemistry. Its chief peculiarity and merit is in the great stress laid on practical laboratory work. . . . It is permanently a worker's guide."

NATURE.

"Since the advance of organic chemistry in this country must, in a measure, depend on the nature of the available text-books, both the author and the translator deserve our thanks for providing us with a work such as the present one."

PUBLISHED BY

THE MACMILLAN COMPANY 66 FIFTH AVENUE, NEW YORK

OUTLINES

INDUSTRIAL CHEMISTRY

A TEXT-BOOK FOR STUDENTS

By FRANK HALL THORP, Ph.D.,

Instructor in Industrial Chemistry in the Massachusetts Institute of Technology.

Cloth. 8vo. Price, \$3.50 net

JAMES LEWIS HOWE,

Department of Chemistry, Washington and Lee University.

"The book is brought thoroughly up to date, and in some cases the lines of probable development are nicely foreshadowed. The descriptions are particularly lucid and the illustrations well selected.

The general arrangement and make-up of the book is excellent, and ... altogether the book fills well a need long felt by teachers of Industrial Chemistry.

I shall adopt the book for my class and shall take pleasure in recommending it."

CHARLES E. COATES, Jr., Ph.D.,

Professor of Chemistry, Louisiana State University.

"I have examined it carefully and think it a most excellent book, meeting a want I have long felt in my higher classes. I have introduced it in this year's classes."

W. A. NOYES, in Science.

"The descriptions of processes, while necessarily concise, are clear and interesting. The author has evidently made a careful study of recent methods of manufacture as well as of older, standard processes. The frequent reference to American practice is an important feature which distinguishes the book from other works on chemical technology. A select bibliography follows each subject, and will be found very useful."

PUBLISHED BY

THE MACMILLAN COMPANY

66 FIFTH AVENUE, NEW YORK

'RY

stitute

cases the e descrip-

^

ilent, and of Indus-

easure in

ent book, ave intro-

are clear study of processes. nt feature chnology. ound very

